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“ No longer are we asked  
about our legacy 
designations. We are  
all CPAs and moving  
into the future as one  
unifed profession.” 
Terry LeBlanc,  FCPA, FCGA, Board Vice-chair 
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 Letter from the outgoing 
President and CEO 
Kevin Dancey, FCPA, FCA 

A thriving national organization 
Stronger, more efficient, effective and influential — that was the 

promise of unifcation. In fscal 2016 we delivered on that promise. 

CPA Canada is a thriving national organization and the third largest 

accounting body in the world representing more than 200,000 

Canadian CPAs. The Canadian CPA is the country’s business and 

accounting designation. As our dynamic ad campaign demonstrates, 

we are the right fit for business. 

I can’t help but appreciate the success of that collaborative national-

provincial advertising effort. Today, the vast majority of Canadians 

— and a growing number of stakeholders internationally — recognize 

Canadian CPAs as skilled and trustworthy business and accounting 

professionals. 

In addition to great strides in brand awareness, this year we also 

established new education programs, improved relationships with 

stakeholders, and expanded professional development opportunities 

for staff. 

A rewarding year 
It has been three years since CPA Canada was created through the 

unifcation of our legacy bodies. Looking back, 2015-2016 was the  

year everything came together. Here is a sampling of CPA Canada’s 

accomplishments. You will discover much more as you make your  

way through this annual report. 

•	 On October 1, 2015, the number of Canadian CPAs working 

in Canada and around the world surpassed 200,000, a 

signifcant milestone. 

•	 Pride in the CPA profession continued to rise among members  

and students, with support for advertising and marketing the  

value of the CPA at 85%. 
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•	 Overall member satisfaction with our organization 

rose to 69% in 2016, up 5 percentage points from 

2015. Some 82% of members say CPA Canada 

has the right vision, and 79% believe we provide 

valuable support for the profession. 

•	 Our members saved an estimated $1.8 million 

through CPA Canada’s exclusive Member 

Savings Program. 

•	 We launched the Advanced Certifcate in 

Accounting and Finance (ACAF) for those 

who seek a challenging and rewarding career 

in accounting and fnance but not as CPAs. 

Certifcate holders qualify for intermediate-

level accounting jobs in business, not-for-profit 

organizations, and government, as well as  

CPA-supervised positions in public accounting. 

•	 The frst Common Final Examination (CFE) was 

written in English and French with more than 

2,200 successful candidates. Upon graduation, 

they will be the frst Canadian CPA holders 

not required to tag the CPA designation to a 

legacy designation. 

•	 Unifcation has made CPA Canada much stronger 

in the face of global consolidation and expansion 

of the accounting profession. Our strategy 

internationally is threefold: 

o Expand the CPA Canada brand and 

influence globally among key stakeholders, 

including prospective students, employers, 

governments, regulators, and leading global 

and regional accounting bodies. 

o Contribute to the development and 

enhancement of the profession 

internationally through our work with the 

boards and committees of other accounting 

bodies and capacity-building agencies. 

o Work with the Canadian government on 

relevant social, economic, and fnancial 

policy issues, including immigration and 

foreign-credential issues. This will help us to 

assist immigrants and would-be immigrants 

who are interested in our programs, and to 

support select global trade initiatives. 

•	 We strengthened our collaborative relationship 

with the Canada Revenue Agency (CRA). 

Seven joint CRA-CPA Canada committees work 

on a wide range of issues of mutual interest. 

•	 Building on our work with the Martin Aboriginal 

Education Initiative — a mentorship program for 

aboriginal high school students — CPA Canada 

and AFOA Canada (formerly Aboriginal Financial 

Officers Association of Canada) entered into a 

Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) to further 

strengthen our long-standing relationship and 

support for aboriginal accounting and fnancial 

professionals. Specifcally, we will provide 

Certifed Aboriginal Financial Manager (CAFM) 

students an accelerated path to the ACAF. 

•	 Together with CPA Ontario, we held the second 

annual The ONE national conference, the premier 

professional development opportunity for CPAs. 

The two-day event, which featured four keynote 

speakers and 46 sessions, drew 1,200 attendees. 

•	 CPA Canada was recognized by U.S.-based 

EIFLE (Excellence in Financial Literacy 

Education) in two award categories: Adult Book, 

Risk�Management – Protecting You and Your 

Money: A�Guide to Avoiding Identity Theft and 

Fraud; and Children’s Education Program, Credit 

and Debit – CPA�Canada’s Post-Secondary 

Program. As well, The Procrastinator’s Guide to 

Retirement – How YOU can retire in ten years or 

less, by David Trahair, CPA, CA, and published by 

CPA Canada, became a national best-seller. 

•	 CPA�Magazine, the profession’s national publication, 

collected three gold awards — including one for  

Best Issue — three silver awards, and 14 honourable 

mentions at the Kenneth R. Wilson magazine 

awards. And Member News, our national 

enewsletter, won a silver award for Best Email 

Newsletter Design and Engagement at the 2015 

Canadian Online Publishing Awards. 

My term as the frst president and CEO of CPA Canada 

has been extremely gratifying. I am proud of the 

progress we have made to serve and engage our 

members, and our success in establishing quality 

relationships with our key stakeholders. 

I am especially pleased with the appointment of 

Joy Thomas as my successor. I’ve had the pleasure of 

working closely with Joy for the past fve years during 

unifcation, while she was CEO of CMA Canada, and 

then during her tenure as CPA Canada’s executive 

vice-president. I wish her all the best as she assumes 

the leadership of an organization that she has had a 

considerable role in building. 

6 CPA˝Canada Annual Report 2015-2016 



 Letter from the incoming 
President and CEO 
Joy Thomas, FCPA, FCMA 

Transition to transformation 
I am thrilled to have been appointed president and CEO and 

wholeheartedly agree with Kevin Dancey — it has been an extremely 

busy and satisfying year. I want to acknowledge Kevin’s extraordinary 

leadership, wisdom and vision. It has been a privilege to work 

with him and I want to sincerely thank him for all he has done for 

the profession. 

As an organization and as a profession we have made great headway. 

We have a talented team and I am honoured to be a part of it. 

One highlight for me personally has been the tremendous improvement 

in overall employee satisfaction, which rose to 74% from 67%. Further, 

77% enjoy their work, 83% are proud to work for CPA Canada, and 82% 

understand how their job supports the organization’s strategy. These 

are encouraging numbers and reflect the signifcant steps we took to 

enhance our workplace culture by introducing a talent development 

initiative, increasing executive communication, and improving the work 

environment and infrastructure. The success of an organization is rooted 

in its culture and so our commitments to these areas will be ongoing. 

Having established a strong foundation, it’s time to turn to the 

future — to move from transition to transformation. And that means 

ensuring we have the answers to some very big questions. What will 

CPA Canada look like fve years from now? What skills must CPAs 

acquire now to succeed in the future? How can we evolve to meet the 

economic and social needs of a changing global environment? 

In the pages that follow, we identify fve megatrends, their 

implications for the profession, and what CPA Canada is doing to 

address them. And lastly we offer a glimpse of what we have in store 

for the year ahead. 

As a member and an employee I am passionate about the profession 

and excited about the future. It is time — and we are ready — to live 

our vision and mission and meet the demands of an ever-changing 

world. We have the momentum to do great things. 
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 Letter from the Chair 
Alain Côté, FCPA, FCA 

On behalf of the CPA Canada Board of Directors, it is my pleasure to 

update you on the remarkable progress we have made as the profession’s 

national governing body. In just three short years, we have solidifed a 

strong, collaborative partnership between the national, provincial, and 

regional CPA organizations. 

The success of the Canadian CPA profession rests on the full co-operation 

and commitment of all CPA organizations to fulfll a common mission and  

achieve a shared vision. It requires a harmonized approach to elements of  

the profession that we manage jointly: strategic planning, public trust and  

ethics, education and qualifcation, and brand and reputation. 

Having successfully navigated the challenges of integration, we have 

now entered an exciting new era of good faith and open dialogue. 

Evolution of our governance structure 
As we complete the transition to a unifed profession, it is important 

to look at its role and structure. 

Our role as a national board is to provide strategic leadership and 

sound governance and management for the greatest beneft of 

the profession, CPAs and the public. Having an effective, respectful 

relationship among representatives from across the country bodes 

well for a thriving future. With that in mind, we will be restructuring 

the board to ensure its long-term effectiveness. 

On September 27, 2016, the day before the 2016 Annual General 

Meeting, the number of directors on the CPA Canada board will reduce 

from 22 to 12, eight of them nominated by the regions. 

This will reflect our membership, which has also transitioned. As of 

March 31, 2016, individual members in all jurisdictions except Nova Scotia, 

Yukon and Northwest Territories/Nunavut became members of 

CPA Canada. Those bodies will be eligible to request Organization Member 

status from the board once they have fnal CPA legislation. This is expected 

in Nova Scotia by the end of June 2016 and the Northwest Territories/ 

Nunavut in 2017. (The Yukon legislation passed on May 17, 2016.) 

It is expected that legislation supporting the transition of the CPA 

profession will be complete in 2017. 
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Our mission, vision 
and values 

Mission 
CPA Canada enhances the influence, relevance and 

value of the Canadian CPA profession by: 

•	 Acting in the public interest 

•	 Supporting its members 

•	 Contributing to economic and social development 

Vision 
The Canadian CPA is the pre-eminent, globally 

respected business and accounting designation. 

Key objectives 
•	 Act in the public interest 

•	 Be a leader in accounting and business education 

•	 Expand and satisfy the demand for high-quality 

business and accounting professionals 

•	 Be the most valued and trusted resource relied  

on by members, students and key stakeholders 

•	 Foster member pride and engagement 

•	 Be recognized as a leading influential voice in 

Canada and for the profession globally 

•	 Foster organizational effectiveness 

CPA Canada organization values 
We create trust by living our values: 

•	 Act with integrity 

•	 Foster excellence 

•	 Be accountable 

•	 Work collaboratively 

•	 Respect others 

Member values 
Canadian CPAs are valued for their excellence  

and integrity. 

“Our mission, vision 
and values are 
part of the DNA 
for employees— 
together they 
provide a framework 
as we strive to 
serve members, 
the profession and 
the public interest.” 
Janet Wile,  Manager, Internal Communications, CPA Canada 
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How we fulfill 
our mandate 
CPA Canada accomplishes its mandate through: 

•	 Support of standard setting 

•	 Development and delivery of education, 

certifcation and professional  

development programs 

•	 Production of technical and  

other publications 

•	 Member management and services to  

support more than 200,000 members 

•	 Contributions to research, thought  

leadership, advocacy, public policy, economic  

and social issues 

•	 Contributions to improve the Canadian  

tax system for the beneft of the tax  

community and the public 

•	 International capacity-building and 

program development 

•	 Promotion of CPA Canada through branding, 

marketing and communications, government 

relations and public affairs 

•	 A volunteer network of more than 800  

members who serve on oversight boards, 

standards boards, advisory boards, working 

groups, committees, and task forces. These 

volunteers help CPA Canada understand the 

needs of members and other stakeholders, 

explore and develop knowledge, and support  

the due-diligence process to ensure the  

policies, programs and products created are 

timely, relevant, and of the highest quality. 

Our stakeholders include: 

•	 The public 

•	 Members 

•	 Students 

•	 Employers 

•	 Provincial and territorial CPA bodies 

•	 Academia 

•	 Volunteers 

•	 Federal government 

•	 Domestic and international standard  

setting boards 

•	 Regulatory bodies 

•	 Financial-statement preparers, investors, 

and boards 

•	 Accounting frms 

•	 Professional accounting organizations 

•	 Industry experts 

•	 Think-tanks 

•	 Trade and professional associations 

•	 Affinity program partners 

•	 Financial Literacy partners 

•	 Media 

10 CPA˝Canada Annual Report 2015-2016 
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Our Organization 
Building a constructive culture 
During the year, CPA Canada developed a formal plan 

to guide the organization on its continuing journey 

to build a constructive culture — one that promotes 

co-operation and encourages departments to better 

understand and support the operational requirements 

of other areas of the organization. 

We unveiled a new employee intranet, increased the 

frequency and reach of executive communications, 

and developed and launched a multi-year Leadership 

Development Strategy. Our employees work diligently 

to deliver on our key business objectives and 

member value. 

Committed to innovation and collaboration 
CPA Canada is committed to innovation and 

collaboration in our processes, culture, and resources, 

both within the organization and with the provincial 

and territorial CPA bodies. Collaboration with our 

Canadian CPA partner organizations is exemplifed 

in the work we do at the national Board of Directors 

level, the Council of Chief Executives, and numerous 

pan-Canadian committees. 

Implementing an integrated digital strategy 
With the integration of legacy systems almost complete, CPA Canada is able to turn its attention to 

the development and delivery of an integrated digital strategy. We are upgrading systems throughout 

the organization, maturing our data security and disaster recovery programs, and implementing a  

data warehouse and digital marketing infrastructure. 

President and CEO Joy Thomas and retiring President and CEO Kevin Dancey championed an 
organization-wide approach to a constructive culture, including bringing a sense of fun to all staff meetings. 



 

“ I’m proud to be working 
for an organization that 
recognizes success can 
only come from being agile 
and embracing a culture of 
continuous evolution.” 
Suzi Mikaelian, Manager, Product Strategy,  
Professional Learning and Development, CPA Canada 
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 Management’s Discussion 
and Analysis 

What follows is a discussion of CPA Canada’s key objectives, major 

activities, and achievements for fscal 2015-16, as well as its fnancial 

position, results of operations, and cash flows for the year ended 

March 31, 2016. Management’s Discussion and Analysis should be read 

along with the audited fnancial statements and the accompanying  

notes for the same year-end. 

A foundation for the future 
We will remember 2015-2016 as CPA Canada’s transition to transformation 

moment. It was the year that integration was completed and we focused 

on building a strong foundation for the future, including a full suite 

of exceptional education programs. As well, the frst Common Final 

Examination (CFE) was written in English and French with more than 

2,200 successful candidates. 

The organization remained fully committed to the support of standard    

setting, and the development and delivery of thought leadership and 

value-added products and services. It also continued to build the CPA 

brand and grow the influence of Canadian CPAs and our profession. 

CPA Canada’s goals are transformational. We are working toward our 

mission by building our unique purpose into all of our work. That means 

we must understand the trends shaping the future of business and 

accounting, focus on the relevant priorities, and maintain our standard of 

excellence. This will ensure CPA Canada is recognized as a leading voice 

for the business and accounting profession in Canada and internationally. 
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How CPA—Canada manages the
five major drivers of change 

1 GLOBALIZATION 

Globalization is having a signifcant impact on 
how accounting organizations operate. As the 
world becomes increasingly interconnected 
and interdependent, accounting bodies have 
an opportunity to grow and expand their 
global influence. They’re offering training and 
qualifcation exams in foreign countries, and 
providing capacity-building to develop and 
improve professional standards and practices 
in emerging economies. 

Auditing and fnancial reporting standards 
and offshore tax regimes are among the 
issues growing in importance as economic, 
fnancial, trade, and communication systems 
become more globally integrated. 

CPA—Canada’s response: pursuing 
growth and greater influence 
CPA Canada is the third largest accounting body in 

the world and that bodes well for us internationally. 

To sustain our globally respected reputation, we are 

building on our considerable strengths to increase 

the worldwide recognition and value of the Canadian 

CPA. We are increasing our contributions to global 

accounting bodies, forums and other initiatives, as 

well as maintaining close ties with our members 

whether they live in Canada, the U.S., Europe, Asia,  

or the Americas. 

In the Asia Pacific region 
•	 We introduced CPA Canada Prerequisite 

Education Program (CPA PREP) materials in  

13 partner universities in China. 

•	 We strengthened our relationship with the 

Korean Institute of Certifed Public Accountants 

through a Memorandum of Co-operation. Areas 

of joint interest include: professional education 

and certifcation, post-certifcation professional 

learning and development, ethical standards and 

member regulation, and standard setting and 

implementation guidance. 

•	 We boosted our brand, image, and influence in 

the region with the naming of a Canadian CPA 

as the new president of the Confederation of 

Asian and Pacifc Accountants (CAPA), and 

our sponsorship of CAPA’s annual conference. 

CPA Canada also sponsored the Chinese 

Institute of Certifed Public Accountants’ (CICPA) 

delegation to Canada in September 2015. 

In the Americas 
•	 Our recruitment targeted all major economies 

in the Caribbean. CPA Canada Professional 

Education Program registrations are trending 

in the right direction with over fve times the 

number of registrations compared to year one; 

PREP registrations increased 63%. 

•	 We launched a new website for the Caribbean 

and secured exam-writing centres throughout 

the region. 

More than 

Canadian CPAs live and work internationally 

14 CPA˝Canada Annual Report 2015-2016 



 

•	 We promoted the CPA Canada brand, the 

Canadian CPA designation and a full suite of 

education offerings through billboard advertising 

and an extensive social media campaign. In 

addition, we sponsored major accounting 

conferences and events, and continued to 

support the Institute of Chartered Accountants 

of the Caribbean. 

•	 CPA Canada received formal recognition as an 

Approved Professional Body under the bylaws 

of the Institutes of Chartered Accountants in 

the Bahamas, Barbados, the Eastern Caribbean, 

Guyana, Jamaica, and Trinidad and Tobago, and 

continued its affiliate membership in the Institute 

of Chartered Accountants of the Caribbean. 

•	 We established chapters in the Cayman Islands 

and Barbados. 

Globally 
•	 With eight CPA Canada members serving 

on International Federation of Accountants 

boards and committees, and three members 

on the Global Accounting Alliance board and 

committees, the Canadian profession is assured 

substantial influence globally. 

•	 Canada also maintained a strong voice in 

international standard setting. The Comptroller 

General of Canada was recently selected to serve 

on the International Public Sector Accounting 

Standards Board’s Consultative Advisory Group. 

“ Now we can  
focus on making  
the Canadian 
profession even 
more respected and 
trusted worldwide. 
The next 100 years 
will be ours to  
make great.” 
John Nagy, FCPA, FCGA, Board Member 

Lyle Handfeld, CPA Canada’s VP International — Asia (front row, right centre) at the Hong Kong Chapter Inaugural Dinner; Nancy Foran, 
CPA Canada’s VP International — The Americas (second from right) at the Institute of Chartered Accountants of Barbados (ICAB) 
annual conference. 
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CPAs: helping business adapt  
to climate change 

CPA Canada has produced a series of climate change videos to showcase the roles CPAs play in enhancing business resilience 
and adaptation. 

Climate change is increasingly recognized as a 

business issue in Canada and around the world.  

As a result, CPA Canada has broadened its work  

in sustainability. A major new initiative, jointly  

funded by Natural Resources Canada, allows us  

to position the profession to better assist  

companies and other organizations to adjust  

to a changing climate. 

Some organizations are already tapping the  

expertise of their fnance teams to improve their 

resilience and competitiveness in the face of 

global and local catastrophic weather, supply 

change disruptions, and resource shortages. 

Whether it’s managing risk, identifying and seizing 

opportunities, or looking for ways to improve a 

company’s responsiveness, business and accounting 

professionals are ideally placed to assist — and to 

make a case for action. But for many, this is still 

uncharted ground. 

The initiative delivers research and support through 

a series of print and video case studies from six key 

sectors: tourism, transportation, retail, insurance, 

energy, and municipal government. For members 

new to the area, we have produced several short 

publications, including: A Primer on Climate Change 

Mitigation and Adaptation, How Organizations 

Can Adapt to Climate Change, and How Chartered 

Professional Accountants Can Help Organizations 

Adapt to Climate Change. As creators, enablers, 

preservers and reporters of sustainable value,  

CPAs can make adaptation efforts more effective. 

Information sessions on our joint initiative were held 

in Toronto and Vancouver for members and other 

interested professionals. As well, the initiative was 

featured during a panel session at GLOBE 2016 in 

March, the premier “business of the environment” 

conference that drew nearly 2,000 delegates and 

speakers from 50 countries to Vancouver. The 

Network for Business Sustainability provided  

project management for the initiative. 
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2 TRUST  AND   
REGULATION 

Trust in the accounting profession is essential 
to the health and stability of the economy, and 
that trust can be weakened — directly or by 
association — by controversy. Areas that have 
come under increased scrutiny include: audit 
quality and value; public sector accounting; 
transparency in fnancial reporting; 
environmental, social and governance 
disclosures; and tax evasion and avoidance. 

CPA—Canada’s response:
maintaining confidence, 
supporting stability 
The Canadian profession maintains public and other 

stakeholder confdence in a wide range of areas. 

We accomplish this, in part, by: 

•	 Providing leadership to enhance audit quality by 

working with the Canadian Public Accountability 

Board, national accounting frms, and the Institute 

of Corporate Directors 

•	 Providing globally recognized education programs 

to ensure our members have the necessary skills 

and competencies to act in the public interest 

•	 Funding the development of Canadian accounting 

and assurance standards and the work of the 

independent standard-setting boards and 

oversight councils that make Canada’s capital 

markets safe and transparent 

•	 Providing additional in-depth guidance for boards 

of directors by publishing two new titles under 

the popular 20 Questions series and a bulletin on 

cybersecurity risk. Delivering webinars on anti-

bribery and corruption, and social enterprise and 

governance, for not-for-profts 

•	 Delivering our national Financial Literacy Program 

to ensure Canadians have the tools and information 

they need to make sound fnancial decisions 

•	 Developing a comprehensive multi-year initiative 

to effect change in external reporting, and 

producing An Evolving Corporate Reporting 

Landscape: A Briefing on Sustainability Reporting, 

Integrated Reporting; and Environmental, Social 

and Governance (ESG) Reporting; and Five Steps 

to Simplifying Financial Statements - Today 

•	 Maintaining a collaborative relationship with the 

Canada Revenue Agency; developing webinars, 

presentations and round table discussions to 

resolve tax administration issues 

•	 Collaborating with the C.D. Howe Institute, the 

Canadian Tax Foundation, Financial Executives 

International (FEI) Canada, Institute of Internal 

Auditors, International Integrated Reporting 

Council, and the Financial Management Institute 

of Canada 

•	 Signing a Memorandum of Understanding with 

the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and 

Accountancy of the United Kingdom to enhance 

the organizations’ ability to support excellence in 

public sector fnancial management 

•	 Working with the International Federation of 

Accountants’ standard-setting boards to align 

with international standards where appropriate 

“Each year, Canadian business becomes 
more complicated. By offering professional 
development opportunities, we support 
our members and ensure CPAs are on 
the leading edge of new developments.” 
Gregory Gallant,  FCPA, FCA, Board Member  
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A respected voice on tax 

Gabe Hayos, CPA Canada’s VP, Taxation, published nearly a dozen blogs on current tax matters,  
including two in the Huffington Post. 

As experts on tax matters that affect our members 

and the public, and the country’s leading provider 

of tax education, we have long been a respected 

voice. Our initiatives are supported by the energy 

and expertise of more than 100 volunteers who 

contribute to committees covering 11 tax areas. 

Over the course of fscal 2016, CPA Canada: 

•	 Continued to strengthen our collaborative 

relationship with the Canada Revenue 

Agency (CRA) that was established in late 

2014. Joint CRA-CPA committee work led 

to recommendations to improve tax system 

administration, with our priority being the best 

interests of taxpayers and the public. We also 

produced a number of webinars on important 

tax developments. 

•	 Developed an electronic tax questionnaire linked  

to the CPA Canada Tax Practice manual. A best-

practice checklist, it is designed to minimize risk  

of litigation for tax services practitioners.  

•	 Worked with the American Chamber of 

Commerce in Canada (AMCHAM) and 

the American Institute of Certifed Public 

Accountants (AICPA) to make joint 

submissions to the Canadian and American 

governments and work together to help 

people with cross-border, tax-assisted savings 

plans achieve the intended benefts. 

•	 Commented on a host of tax-related federal 

announcements, among them the speech 

from the throne and the 2016 federal budget. 

In its commentary, CPA Canada reaffirmed 

its commitment to work with the federal 

government to address international tax 

evasion and strengthen the integrity of the 

Canadian tax system. 

•	 Published nearly a dozen tax blogs by  

Gabe Hayos, CPA Canada’s vice-president  

Taxation, on the CPA Canada website and  

two in the Huffington Post. Topics included:  

the underground economy, CRA’s red tape  

reduction action plan, tax fling traps for   

not-for-profts, the Foreign Income Verifcation  

Statement (Form T1135), and the CRA’s new  

e-services. 

•	 Welcomed the frst 380 graduates of the 

enhanced In-Depth Tax Course program. 

Three years ago, the program was given a 

makeover to place a greater emphasis on 

competencies and add more overall rigour, 

an expanded technology component, and 

government guest speakers. It is widely 

recognized as Canada’s most comprehensive 

tax training program. 
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Providing Canadians 
with unbiased financial 
education 
Promoting fnancial literacy and providing fnancial 

education are central to CPA Canada’s commitment 

to act in the public interest. During Financial Literacy 

Month in November, we held more than 60 education 

sessions and special events across Canada on wisely 

managing money and debt, planning and saving for 

the future, and fraud prevention. 

In 2015, we developed a fnancial education program 

specifcally for the workplace. The program consists 

of six learning modules and is sponsored by Great-

West Life. Canada’s Financial Literacy Leader Jane 

Rooney championed the program within government 

and throughout the private sector. 

The workplace program is one component of an 

extensive grassroots effort that involves 11,000 CPAs. 

Members throughout the country are trained and 

ready to give fnancial literacy seminars tailored 

to meet the needs of a variety of audiences. 

CPA Canada’s Financial Literacy Program, which 

works with more than 350 partner organizations, 

hosted sessions in English and French at various 

venues including schools, libraries, and community 

centres. Two new sessions were developed – Fraud 

protection for Seniors and Managing Finances in 

Retirement — bringing our total suite of available 

sessions to 34. 

In April 2015, CPA Canada was 

recognized by the prestigious EIFLE 

(Excellence in Financial Literacy 

Education) Awards program in  

two categories: 

•	 	Adult’s	Book	of	the	Year,	 Risk 

Management – Protecting You and Your Money: 

A Guide to Avoiding Identity Theft and Fraud 

•	 	Children’s	Education	Program	of	the	Year,   
Credit and Debit – CPA�Canada’s Post- 

Secondary Program 

A new book, The Procrastinator’s Guide to 

Retirement: How YOU can retire in ten years or less, 

was published in late fscal 2016 and soon became 

a best-seller. 

Promoting financial literacy 

Protecting You
and Your Money 

A GUIDE TO AVOIDING 
IDENTITY THEFT AND FRAUD 

Kel ey Keehn 

Risk Management – Protecting 

You and Your Money: A Guide  

to Avoiding Identity Theft  

and Fraud 

Children’s Education Program 

of the Year, Cr edit and Debit –   

CPA�Canada’s Post-Secondary 

Program 

The 
Procrastinator’s 
Guide to 
Retirement 
How YOU can retire in 10 years or less 

The Procrastinator’s Guide  

to Retirement – How YOU  

can retire in ten years  

or less 
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A trusted advisor  
in the nation’s capital 

CPA Canada employees and volunteers in the media lock-up for Budget 2016. 

During a year of signifcant transition in federal 

politics, CPA Canada’s government relations team 

continued to raise awareness on Parliament Hill of 

the transition to a unifed accounting profession in 

Canada. Given the overwhelming number of newly 

elected parliamentarians with the change in the 

federal government in October 2015, we made it 

our mission to reach out to all 338 members of 

Parliament to ensure they know the value of the 

CPA brand. 

CPA Canada highlights the profession’s expertise  

to advance the development of federal public  

policy in the public interest, reinforcing our 

reputation as a trusted business and fnancial  

advisor. Throughout the year, we commented on 

a variety of issues, including red-tape reduction, 

responsible fnancial management, priorities for  

the new government, pre-budget consultations,  

and budget day analysis. 

We also collaborated with senior officials, at  

both political and bureaucratic levels, and national 

stakeholders to advance common goals. Climate 

change adaptation, tax policy, administration 

and compliance, foreign credential recognition, 

international trade, and fnancial literacy are among 

the government priorities that beneft from the 

profession’s input and assistance. 
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3 BRAND AND   
REPUTATION 

The profession continues to make great strides 
in establishing the value of the CPA brand 
among the business community, the public and 
other important stakeholders. Member and 
student pride in the designation is strong. That 
said, CPA Canada operates in a competitive 
market for business and professional services, 
and demand for greater transparency and 
accountability in business is on the rise. 

CPA—Canada’s response:
build and protect the CPA brand 
CPA Canada continually positions the Canadian CPA 

as Canada’s business professional, with broad and 

deep fnancial and business skills. We work to protect 

CPAs’ distinguished global reputation as trusted and 

ethical professionals who safeguard the public interest. 

Work to promote awareness and recognition of the 

value of CPAs and the profession has generated 

impressive results during the past three years. Last 

year, signifcant advances were achieved across a  

wide array of key measures (see brand research 

results, page 22). 

The profession’s media visibility was up by more than 

25 per cent in fscal 2015-16, largely due to proactive 

efforts with positive coverage and subject-matter expert 

commentary on key issues including taxation, fnancial 

literacy, CPA Canada Business Monitor, household debt, 

and accounting standards. 

CPA Canada’s Member News won a silver COPA award in 2015 
for Best Email Newsletter Design and Engagement. 
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“ As a united profession and one of the 
largest accounting bodies in the world, 
the best practices put in place during 
transition leave us uniquely positioned 
to deliver our brand promise.” 
Rod Wiley,  FCPA, FCMA, Board Member 



CPA Brand 
The CPA profession tracks the building of awareness and recognition of the Chartered Professional  

Accountant brand through research undertaken by a third party. Mean score is based on a seven-point scale. 

Unification 

0 20 40 60 80 100 

Business Audience 

Affluent Households 

Stakeholders 

2016 

2015 

Awareness of Unifcation 

100% 

100% 

29% 

18% 

48% 

31% 

Impression of Professions 

                       

Physicians 

Professional 
Engineers 

Professional 
Accountants 

MBAs 

Financial Planners 

Financial Analysts 

Lawyers 

Bankers 

2016 
2015 

5.6 
5.6 

5.2 
5.1        

4.9 
5.0        

4.5 
4.8 

4.4 
4.5 

4.4 
4.5 

4.3 
4.2 

4.2 
4.3 

Affluent Households 

Negative Positive 

Stakeholders 

Negative Positive 

2016 
2015 

Member/Student  Indices 

Disagree Agree 

Proud to identify 
myself as a CPA 

Confident in my long-term 
prospects as a CPA 

CPA will enhance my 
value in the market 

CPA accurately reflects my 
professional competencies 

CPA will provide superior 
career opportunities 

2016 
2015 

5.7 
5.6 

5.6 
5.5 

5.4 
5.1          

5.4 
5.3 

5.2 
4.9 

Member Value Index Student Confidence Index 

I will be pr 16 5.9 oud to 20
 identify myself as a CPA 2015 6.0 

CPA will provide 5.7      
 competitive advantage 5.1               

Employers will perceive my CPA 5.5 
 as a superior business credential 5.4 

Confident in my 5.2 
 career prospects 5.3 

The CPA name will 5.3 
 inspire public confidence 5.4 

Expect better access to 5.2 
 international opportunities 5.7      

Disagr0 ee 1 2 3 4 5 Agree 6 
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  Recognizing and 
fostering excellence 

Our two national awards programs recognize top performers to help raise the standard of excellence in fnancial reporting and 
public sector fnancial management. 

Corporate reporting 
Through its annual Awards of Excellence in  

Corporate Reporting, CPA Canada recognizes  

the important role that high-quality reporting  

plays in the Canadian economy and the stability  

of our fnancial system. 

This awards program raises the bar for corporate 

reporting practices in Canada. Program participants 

receive a confdential assessment of their reporting 

materials to help them improve year over year. 

Goldcorp Inc. was recognized three times, including 

winning the 2015 Overall Award of Excellence in 

Corporate Reporting, the program’s most prestigious 

honour. In total, 21 awards were presented at a 

December gala event in Toronto to winners from  

both the corporate and public sectors. 

Public sector financial management 
Our Awards of Excellence in Public Sector Financial 

Management recognize federal public servants 

who have made outstanding contributions. 

Presented annually in May, the awards celebrate 

innovative thinking, leadership, and exemplary 

delivery of fnancial management services. As well 

as recognition, the awards are an opportunity to 

promote and share best practices. 

•	 P	 aul	Drolet	received	the	Lifetime	Achievement	 
Award for a distinguished 34-year career in 

fnancial management. 

•	 Claude	R	 ochette	 won 	the	Financial	Leadership	 
(CFO) Award for exemplary performance at the 

Canada Border Services Agency. 

•	 	The 	Innovation	 Award 	went	 to both	the	  
Deputy Chief Financial Officers’ Council  

and an intra-departmental Environment  

Canada team. 
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CPA‚Canada responds  
to inaccurate reports 

In early October, the CBC aired reports linking 

CPA Canada to a court case involving KPMG.  

The reports contained numerous factual errors. 

CPA Canada immediately notifed the CBC of its 

errors and posted a response, “CPA Canada sets 

the record straight,” on its website. CPA Canada 

also published a follow-up article from then-

president and CEO Kevin Dancey. CPA Canada’s  

full responses can be found at www.cpacanada.ca. 

CPA Canada’s position 
•	 CPA Canada does not advocate for the 

interests of any individual accounting frm  

or member and has never had any dealings 

with the federal government or CRA  

regarding KPMG. 

•	 	CPA Canada’s	mission	is	 to act	in	the	public	 
interest. CPA Canada stands for a fair and 

ethical tax system for all Canadians. It supports 

the federal government’s crackdown on tax 

evasion and avoidance. Tax evasion is an illegal 

act that is harmful to economies, deprives 

governments of much-needed revenue for  

vital programs, and is unfair to those who 

comply with the law. 

•	 CP	 A Canada is working with other leading 

accounting bodies globally to explore the best 

ways to fght tax evasion and ensure fairness. In  

addition, CPA Canada has made submissions to  

the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and 

Development (OECD) regarding its Base Erosion 

and Proft Shifting initiative. CPA Canada works 

with the CRA and with the federal government, 

through fully transparent lobbying efforts, to 

make the tax system better for all Canadians. 
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4 DEMOGRAPHICS 
Studies suggest strong and continuing 
demand for CPAs across Canada, based on 
the quality of the designation, longer term 
economic growth and members’ retirements. 
At the same time, immigrants will account 
for a larger proportion of the country’s 
labour market growth. 

CPA—Canada’s response:
anticipate market demands 
and members’ needs 
CPA Canada must continue to attract sufficient 

numbers of Canadian and international students, as 

well as foreign-qualifed professionals, to its programs 

to meet market demand. To do so, we must ensure 

that our profession remains attractive to young 

people, some of whom may be eyeing non-traditional 

business and accounting careers. 

We must also satisfy the needs of a membership 

that is becoming more demographically and 

geographically diverse, a task that requires 

continuous engagement. 

CPA Canada has education, certifcation, and 

professional development offerings for anyone who  

is motivated to pursue a career in business. Among 

the year’s highlights: 

•	 The frst Common Final Examination (CFE) was 

held in September 2015 with 2,216 successful 

candidates. This is the frst group of CPAs who 

will not be required to use a legacy designation 

after their CPA. 

Stronger ties with Canada’s 
Aboriginal Peoples 
Canada’s aboriginal population is growing much 

faster than the general population, increasing 

by 20.1% from 2006 to 2011 compared with 

5.2% for the non-aboriginal population, according 

to the National Household Survey. As well, the 

aboriginal population is much younger, with a 

median age of 28 years in 2011 versus 41 for 

the non-aboriginal population. 

CPA Canada supports the Martin Aboriginal 

Education Initiative by connecting CPAs, who 

serve as mentors, with high school students. 

This year, CPA Canada and AFOA Canada 

(formerly Aboriginal Financial Officers Association 

of Canada) formalized a long-standing co-operative 

relationship with a Memorandum of Understanding 

(MOU). Through the MOU, CPA Canada will 

provide Certifed Aboriginal Financial Manager 

(CAFM) students an accelerated path to 

obtaining the CPA Canada ACAF. To accomplish 

this, some ACAF program material will be 

integrated into the CAFM curriculum. 

CPA Canada will also seek opportunities 

for members and students to increase their 

exposure to indigenous culture and history 

through professional development and 

education programs. 

Tashia Batstone, CPA Canada’s VP, Education Services and 
Terry Goodtrack, President and Chief Executive Officer, AFOA 
Canada, sign the MOU. 
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•	 The CPA Canada Advanced Certifcate in 

Accounting and Finance (ACAF) was launched in 

fall 2015. It is Canada’s only nationally recognized 

accounting and fnance certifcate and is ideal for 

individuals who want comprehensive training for 

intermediate level positions. Many internationally 

trained accountants will be eligible for some 

ACAF course exemptions and be able to complete 

the program in as little as six months. 

•	 Together with CPA Ontario, we delivered a 

successful national conference, The ONE, 

which is the profession’s premier professional 

development offering. The two-day event 

attracted more than 1,200 attendees. 

•	 By transitioning to digital marketing, we 

increased professional learning and development 

registrations for in-person courses and 

conferences by 25%. 

•	 A new e-learning course, Guide to Accounting 

Business Culture: Adapting to the Canadian 

Accounting Workplace, was introduced. 

Designed for internationally trained 

accountants and students, the online sessions 

offer insight into the cultural nuances of 

Canadian business. 

•	 A joint effort by CPA Canada and the Martin 

Aboriginal Education Initiative offers a unique 

accounting mentorship program for aboriginal 

youth. What began in 2008 as a pilot project 

in three Ontario high schools is now offered in 

27 schools over six provinces. 

Compensation study shows 
solid increases 
In the second biennial CPA Profession Compensation 

Study to include professional accountants from all 

three legacy bodies, the mean compensation for 

traditional and nontraditional roles increased 7% 

from 2012 to 2014 to $151,000. The median increase 

was 3%. The fndings were based on responses from 

27,863 professional accountants across the country. 

150,000 

125,000 

100,00 

75,000 

50,000 

$151,000 7% 

2012 2014 

Between 2012 to 2014,  
mean compensation for CPAs  
increased 7% to $151,000 

Gender matters 
According to the study, female CPAs earn 83%  

of the median total compensation earned by 

male CPAs ($99,000 vs. $120,000 respectively). 

Women under the age of 35 earn 94% of what 

males in the same age group earn, while women 

aged 55-64 earn just 72% of the median total 

compensation earned by men. 

In professional services frms, and business and 

industry, women continue to be well represented 

in positions up to middle management. 

In 2015, more than 50 per cent of our most recent 

graduates were female and women make up  

more than 40 per cent of our membership. That  

proportion is not reflected in the ratio of women  

partners in professional services frms, where  

fewer than 25% of the partners are women. 

CPA Canada’s Women’s Leadership Council 

acts as a catalyst for change, promoting a work 

environment within the accounting profession 

that provides for the retention, promotion 

and advancement of women to positions of 

leadership without bias, unintended or otherwise, 

based on gender. 

26 CPA˝Canada Annual Report 2015-2016 



 

  
 

 

Jointly presented by CPA Canada and CPA Ontario, The ONE 
National Conference 2015 was a resounding success, with over 
1,200 attendees from all over Canada and around the world,  
representing all specialties and industries. 

Support for CPAs 

The State of Enterprise 
Risk Management
in Canada 

A majority of our members work in industry,  

and in today’s ever-changing environment 

our members are in a position to help their 

organizations be more nimble and adaptable.  

With that in mind, we worked with FEI Canada to 

examine how Canadian organizations deal with 

uncertainty and risk. The State of Enterprise  

Risk Management in Canada summarizes the 

results of a survey of 320 fnancial executives 

as well as deeper insights from a round table 

discussion. A second publication, Developing 

Robust Strategy for Uncertain Times: Expanding 

Our Concept of Management Control to Deal  

with Dynamic Markets, shows CPAs how to 

recognize the barriers to success, and how  

to design management control systems to  

help adapt corporate strategy to dynamic  

market conditions. 
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5 TECHNOLOGY

Advancements in technological platforms are 
creating change in all areas of business and 
accounting. Among them are: cyber-security, 
data management, IT risk management, 
privacy, decision-making and analytics, and the 
delivery of education programs. Technology 
is affecting everything CPAs do, including 
the gathering, processing, managing, and 
assurance of information. 

CPA Canada’s response:
transform the profession
CPA Canada and its members must embrace the 

opportunities created by new technologies and 

confront the challenges. The organization must also 

continue to monitor and respond to the ways in which 

students learn and interact with our offerings. 

To ensure our members are equipped for the impact 

of technological change, CPA Canada is launching 

an ambitious initiative to systematically identify the 

skills, attributes, behaviours, and knowledge that 

our members will need throughout their careers. 

For example, we are closely monitoring the use of 

big data and data analytics and will produce auditor 

guidance and support. 

Additionally:

• CPA Canada has a group of subject matter

experts who provide thought leadership and

guidance on information management and

technology issues that affect the accounting

profession and business community. The

11 volunteer members of the Information

Management and Technology Advisory

Committee (IMTAC) include professionals from

accounting and IT consulting firms, industry,

the public sector, and academia.

• Our ACAF courses give students hands-on

experience with accounting, tax preparation,

auditing, and advanced spreadsheet software

to ensure they will be job-ready once they

complete the program.

• We recently released The Canadian Privacy

and Data Security Toolkit, Second Edition,

which tackles the challenges of collecting and

appropriately securing customer information.

• Three information management and technology

papers have been issued: Cybersecurity

Opportunities for Smaller Accounting Firms,

Information Security Insights from and for

Canadian Small to Medium Sized Enterprises,

and Effective IT Risk Management for

Small Business.

• Several tech-related offerings were available

at The ONE, the profession’s premier national

conference held in September.
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Top technology trends affecting 
the profession



 

“CPA Canada continues 
to transform, evolve 
and grow exponentially 
in both its capabilities 
and relevance to its 
stakeholders.” 
Michael Lem, FCPA, FCMA, Board member 
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Volunteers are 
indispensable to what 
we do — and deliver 
Each year, some 800 volunteers dedicate their time, 

energy and expertise to the CPA profession on a 

wide range of strategically important projects and 

activities. Our volunteers — most serve on one or 

more of our 128 boards, committees, task forces 

and advisory groups — are broadly experienced 

professionals and recognized experts in their felds. 

This year, the Joint Tax Committee celebrated more 

than 70 years of collaboration between CPA Canada 

and the Canadian Bar Association. The committee 

regularly offers input to the federal Finance 

department on technical aspects of current and 

proposed tax laws. 

An additional 11,000 CPAs are trained to support  

and deliver our Financial Literacy Program in 

communities across the country. 

In June 2015, we held our frst annual volunteer 

month to celebrate and recognize the tremendous 

contributions of all our volunteers. 

While giving back to the profession, our volunteers 

enjoy unique opportunities to network with their 

peers. They collaborate to create intellectual property 

for CPA Canada, act in advisory roles, and make 

critical decisions for the organization. And most  

fnd the experience highly rewarding. Nearly 90%  

say they would do it again. Some 800 volunteers serve on committees and boards, including 
independent, standard-setting boards such as the Accounting 
Standards Board (AcSB, top) and the Auditing and Assurance 
Standards Board (AASB, middle). Some of CPA Canada’s 
11,000 fnancial literacy volunteers are recognized at an event 
in Ottawa (bottom). 

“FinLit is transformative—to those 
who attend our seminars, and to me, 
seeing their appreciation of new and 
practical information.” 
Andrew Brydon, CPA, CA, Financial Literacy Program volunteer 
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Employees step up 
and give back 

CPA Canada’s Employee Volunteer Program 

continues to inspire staff to give back to their  

local communities. Each year, employees are 

encouraged to take one full day or two half days  

of work time to support a comprehensive range 

of volunteer activities. 

In 2015-16, 65% of employees volunteered with 

21 partner organizations and contributed more  

than 600 volunteer hours to help with a diverse 

range of projects. One example of this commitment 

is our ongoing partnership with the United Way/ 

Centraide. Through payroll deductions and team-

building fundraising activities, employees donated 

more than $63,000 to these organizations.  

Employees give back to their communities in Burnaby, Montreal, 
Ottawa and Toronto. 
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Looking Ahead 

Future-proofing the profession through  
agility and innovation 
With the business environment changing at a rapid pace, CPA Canada 

is committed to ensuring that our members are equipped with the 

knowledge, skills and training necessary to be successful now and in  

the future. We must be agile in our responses to the megatrends  

identifed in this report and those yet to emerge. 

The good news is that we are already on a path to transformation.  

We anticipate what is needed, while envisioning what is possible. 

This year we engaged a broad range of CPAs and other stakeholders to 

help us better understand the key drivers of change that will shape the 

future of the profession. We are developing a clear direction for work  

on the future of reporting, the evolution of audit and assurance, and  

the impact of technology on data and information management. 

Evolving investor and stakeholder demands, for example, are changing 

how entities measure and report their performance. Increasingly, 

organizations are expected to report on how they create value now 

and in the future. To that end, we will consider material environmental, 

social, and governance issues, as well as the evolving interpretation of 

fduciary duty and the expectations of stakeholders in the digital age. 

We will continue to support the role of CPAs in enhancing business 

resilience and competitiveness in the face of climate change. Our lens  

will widen beyond adaptation to include mitigation. 

CPA Canada will also explore the implications of potentially game-

changing technologies, including blockchain, also referred to as 

distributed ledger technology, which could be especially disruptive to 

capital markets and the fnancial services industry. 
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We will examine the roles a CPA can play in 

ensuring the integrity of data from information 

systems, such as establishing internal controls and 

evaluating the effectiveness of controls over  

fnancial and non-fnancial information. 

And we will continue to amplify the domestic and 

international recognition of the value of the  

profession and our members. 

Among other planned initiatives: 

•	 A major, multi-year Competency Framework 

Project that will methodically identify the skills, 

attributes, behaviours and knowledge that CPAs 

will require throughout their careers 

•	 Projects focused on supporting the future of the 

audit and assurance profession, including audit 

innovation. We will survey audit practitioners to 

gauge the use and challenges of integrating data 

analytics in the audit 

•	 A new Public Sector Certifcate Program and a 

public sector elective in the ACAF 

•	 Pre-approved training programs in the Caribbean 

and additional partner universities in China 

•	 Completing a new, enhanced Professional 

Engagement Guide 

•	 Fortifying our Financial Literacy Program with 

more publications and partners 

•	 Continuing to encourage the federal government 

to bring about reforms needed to ensure a tax 

system that keeps Canada competitive and 

benefts all Canadians 

•	 Accelerating the rollout of an integrated digital 

strategy. This will include organization-wide 

system upgrades, maturation of our data security 

and disaster recovery programs, and a data 

warehouse. These improvements will enable 

CPA Canada to engage with members and other 

stakeholders more effectively 

•	 Continuing to build a constructive culture and 

a collaborative, innovative workplace through a 

variety of employee offerings 

During the next year we will focus on these initiatives 

and others to develop and deliver frst-rate thought 

leadership, research, and products and services,  

as well as professional development. This is all part  

of the value CPA Canada delivers. 

“The world is 
changing and the 
accounting profession 
is evolving with it. 
Our challenge is to 
get out ahead of 
those trends and 
to play a leadership 
role in shaping  
the future.” 
Joy Thomas, President and CEO, CPA Canada 
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Operating EnvironmentOper ating En 

CPA Canada pursues opportunities, provides services 

and conducts activities that may expose it to a variety 

of risks. The ability to respond appropriately and 

effectively to expected and unanticipated change is 

critical to the organization’s success. 

Risks to CPA Canada’s strategy 

Managing risk 
An important aspect of governance and management 

best practices is to ensure that organizational risks are 

identifed, assessed and managed in a timely, efficient 

and effective manner. 

Risk management approach 
CPA Canada’s risk management policy is to apply an 

enterprise risk management (ERM) framework that 

helps guide the organization in its risk management 

activities. The ERM framework: 

•	 establishes the roles and responsibilities of 

the CPA Canada Board of Directors, Audit 

Committee and Management Committee; 

•	 specifes the organization’s tolerance for risk; 

•	 outlines the process for identifying, assessing 

and categorizing the organization’s risks; 

•	 ensures a uniform approach to risk mitigation, 

management and reporting; 

•	 incorporates numerous approaches for 

managing risk, including avoidance, mitigation, 

transferal, insurance and acceptance; 

•	 encourages a risk-aware culture where risk 

management is integrated into CPA Canada’s 

strategic and operational decision-making; 

•	 outlines how key risks, opportunities and impacts 

are determined; and 

•	 facilitates the understanding, discussion, 

evaluation and management of risks at all levels. 

Risk governance 
Risk oversight of CPA Canada activities resides 

with the Board of Directors. The board oversees the 

organization’s ERM and approves a risk management 

policy and an annual risk-tolerance profle designed 

to ensure a consistent understanding of risk exposure. 

The board is responsible for the annual approval of 

CPA Canada’s multi-year strategic plan. It ensures 

that the strategic direction is sound, provides linkage 

between strategies and provision of services, and 

establishes the basis of the annual operational 

commitments and related budgets. It is through 

CPA Canada’s strategic planning process that key risks 

affecting the organization as a whole are identifed 

and addressed. 

The board monitors compliance with the risk 

management policy and reviews the risk management 

policy and procedures annually. 

The board delegates primary responsibility for 

risk management to the Audit Committee and is 

supported by the Management Committee. The board 

is kept informed of signifcant risks and mitigating 

strategies through ongoing reporting mechanisms. 
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The Audit Committee is responsible for reviewing 

the signifcant risks and uncertainties that may 

affect CPA Canada, and the adequacy of its risk 

management policy, procedures and controls. 

The committee recommends the risk management 

policy and annual risk tolerance profle to the board 

for approval. 

The CPA Canada Management Committee is composed 

of the president and CEO, executive vice-president 

and the vice-presidents of each core business group 

and support function and provides leadership in the 

development and implementation of ERM. 

The committee’s responsibilities encompass: 

•	 developing, implementing and maintaining an 

effective ERM framework for the organization; 

•	 developing the risk management policy and  

risk tolerance profle of the organization; 

•	 communicating the organization’s risk  

management policy, risk tolerance profle,  

and ERM framework; 

•	 identifying potential and emergent risks,  

assessing their likelihood and impact,  

determining what risks are not acceptable and 

when risk mitigation and risk management 

strategies must be developed; 

•	 determining the right level of risk for 

each strategic initiative using the risk 

tolerance profle; 

•	 assigning responsibility to develop risk 

mitigation approaches and actions to  

appropriate staff and/or boards and  

committees on an issue-specifc basis; 

•	 explicitly identifying risk mitigation resource 

requirements and allocation to manage risks  

to an acceptable level; and 

•	 identifying opportunities to manage the  

uncertainties of potential and emergent risks, 

and potential outcomes. 

Risk assessment 
CPA Canada, under its risk management policy and 

risk tolerance profle, assesses its willingness to accept 

risk and seeks to manage those risks to an acceptable 

level, otherwise referred to as its tolerance for risk. 

Members of the Management Committee are 

accountable for effectively managing risks relative to 

their respective areas and collectively updating the 

ERM framework during the year. 

CPA Canada attempts to proactively mitigate 

its exposure to risk through sound planning, 

effective management, and the appropriate 

response strategies. 

Key risks 

A key risk is one that, alone or in combination with 

interrelated risks, can have a signifcant adverse 

impact on the organization’s reputation, its ability 

to achieve its priorities, objectives and fnancial 

performance, and has a probability of occurring. 
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Key risk Risk management strategyKey risk Risk management strategy

EXTERNAL AND ENVIRONMENTAL 

Inability to support and act in the 
public interest 

CPA‚Canada supports a robust and independent standard-setting 
process that helps to ensure the financial and non-financial information 
in the private and public sectors is reliable, comparable, transparent 
and credible. This is critical to investor confidence, a sound financial 
system and to act in the public interest. CPA‚Canada also continues to 
enhance audit quality through several initiatives including collaborative 
efforts with regulators such as the Canadian Public Accountability Board 
(CPAB) and to enhance the value of audit by effectively responding to 
the technological, regulatory and other challenges facing audit practices. 
Through its Corporate Reporting Awards, Awards of Excellence in Public 
Sector Financial Management and guidance publications, CPA‚Canada 
helps establish best practices that support healthy capital markets and 
contribute to accountability and transparency. Through its financial 
literacy programs publications, tools and resources, CPA‚Canada is a 
leading advocate for financial literacy. 

Inability to identify and adapt to 
the diverse and changing needs 
of its key stakeholders and/ 
or inability to demonstrate and 
deliver value 

CPA‚Canada consults regularly with stakeholders including members, 
candidates, students, provincial and territorial bodies, academics, 
employers and others to monitor changes in expectations, needs, and 
priorities, against which it benchmarks and measures its performance. 
Through its strategic planning process, CPA‚Canada ensures its key 
priorities and objectives are aligned with the ongoing needs of its 
stakeholders. It also conducts periodic research for relevant products 
and services, and listens to feedback to incorporate into programs and 
service‚delivery. 

Inability to comply with, or 
adapt to, current and changing 
regulations and laws 

CPA‚Canada’s Code of Conduct sets out expected ethical behaviour of 
employees, volunteers and consultants and helps set the tone at the 
top for a culture of integrity. It is everyone’s responsibility to uphold the 
principles of respect, integrity, honesty and trust, and to speak up and 
report concerns about the violation of laws, regulations and CPA‚Canada 
policies. CPA‚Canada’s policies and processes also provide for the timely 
review and monitoring of potential or actual legal or regulatory issues 
to enable senior management and the board to effectively perform their 
management and oversight responsibilities. CPA‚Canada also maintains 
a broad range of insurance coverage, which is reviewed annually with 
the Audit Committee. While it is not possible to entirely eliminate 
legal and regulatory risk, CPA‚Canada works closely with its legal and 
other advisors to manage risk, seek advice on the performance of legal 
obligations, and manage litigation that involves or impacts CPA‚Canada. 
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INTERNAL AND OPERATIONAL 

 

 

Key risk Risk management strategy

Inability to protect CPA‚Canada’s 
brand assets and/or effectively 
build brand awareness 

To manage risks to its brand strategy, CPA‚Canada regularly monitors and 
measures the effectiveness of its branding initiatives through the Council 
of Chief Executive’s Brand Steering Committee. It engages outside 
expertise to assist in this activity. It also maintains relationships with 
political and governmental bodies, and enhances its presence in Ottawa 
as a trusted advisor on business and accounting issues. CPA‚Canada has 
a strategic communication and crisis-management process, and a social 
media strategy and policy to enhance its effectiveness and credibility 
in the social media environment. The CPA‚Canada branding strategy 
ensures CPA‚Canada is talking to members with one voice. 

Inability to attract and retain 
sufficient and appropriately skilled 
people who have the expertise 
(focus, commitment and capability) 
to support the achievement 
of CPA‚Canada’s key strategic 
objectives and priorities; and 
address external and/or internal 
human resources related matters 

Various policies and practices address organizational design, employee 
recruitment programs, succession planning, compensation structures, 
ongoing training and professional development programs and 
performance management. 

Volunteer recruitment and recognition programs are utilized and 
volunteer satisfaction is monitored through surveys conducted periodically. 

Inability to attract and retain high 
quality volunteers 

Volunteer recruitment and recognition programs are utilized. Volunteer 
satisfaction is tracked through Web-based surveys conducted. Subject 
matter specialist consultants are engaged, where necessary. 

Inability to produce competent 
CPAs 

To produce competent CPAs, CPA‚Canada employs uniform assessments 
throughout the certification program (including a common final exam), 
works collaboratively with the provincial and territorial bodies to maintain 
a practical experience requirement, and ensure relevant competencies are 
developed and assessed. 

Inability to deliver a CPA 
professional education program 
that meets the expectations 
of the marketplace, hindering 
new entrants and leading to an 
insufficient number of candidates 
being attracted to the program 

CPA‚Canada regularly conducts research with members, employers and 
other stakeholders to measure satisfaction, determine key touch points 
to drive promotion, and bring the new CPA professional education 
program to the attention of prospective candidates. Broad stakeholder 
consultation on program relevancy also drives marketplace penetration 
and awareness. 

The CPA competency map and programming is regularly reviewed  
to ensure they remain relevant. In addition, alternate streams to 
certification have been developed to ensure the program remains 
inclusive and attractive. 

The delivery of the CPA education program in conjunction with the provincial 
and territorial bodies is heavily reliant on technology, and CPA‚Canada has 
partnered with key third-party providers with proven track records. 

CPA˝Canada Annual Report 2015-2016     37 



Key risk Risk management strategy

INTERNAL AND OPERATIONAL (CONTINUED) 

Inability to ensure the CPA 
professional education program 
module evaluations and the 
common final examination are not 
compromised, and the reliability 
and validity of the examinations 
themselves are not brought  
into question 

A team of experienced and dedicated CPA‚Canada employees and  
volunteers with expertise in the design and delivery of examinations,  
ensure the examinations are not compromised, and results are reliable 
and valid. Comprehensive confidentiality and security processes are in 
place to ensure integrity. 

Inability of CPA‚Canada to 
produce professional learning 
and development programs, 
publications, products and 
services that are innovative, 
relevant, and aligned with 
contemporary technology and 
delivery models 

CPA‚Canada manages these risks by conducting member-focused 
research to help select and deliver the products and benefits that 
provide value. Members are also encouraged to participate at events 
and try publications, products or services through a variety of marketing 
activities and promotions. The organization collaborates with provincial 
and territorial bodies to enhance and expand product offerings. It works 
closely with key strategic partners to design inventive programs with 
long-term benefits. Appropriate information technology skills and core 
competencies are available to the organization and the IT infrastructure 
appropriately supports current and future development plans. IT Services 
monitors new technology and trends, works closely with stakeholders and 
undertakes extensive surveys to understand their needs and priorities. 

Inability to adequately protect and 
secure CPA‚Canada’s technology,  
IT infrastructure, and information 
from a major negative event 

 

Key risk Risk management strategy
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IT Services employs a number of programs, procedures and processes 
to effectively respond to emergencies and safeguard CPA‚Canada 
technology, IT infrastructure and information from unauthorized 
intrusions and other threats. 



     

  

     

  

Financial instrument risk management 
CPA Canada is exposed to various risks associated 

with its fnancial instruments that have the potential 

to affect its operating and fnancial performance. The 

fnancial instrument risk exposures are: credit risk, 

liquidity risk and market risk (comprised of currency, 

interest rate and other price risk). 

CPA Canada manages these risks in accordance with 

its risk management policy. The objective of the policy 

is to reduce volatility in cash flow and earnings, and 

safeguard assets. 

CPA Canada also has an investment policy that details 

the asset quality and proportion of fxed income and 

equity securities in which it invests. It does not use 

derivative fnancial instruments to manage its risks. 

Credit risk 
CPA Canada is exposed to credit risk resulting from 

the possibility that parties may default on their 

fnancial obligations, or if there is a concentration of 

transactions carried out with the same party, or if 

there is a concentration of fnancial obligations that 

have similar economic characteristics that could be 

similarly affected by changes in economic conditions, 

such that CPA Canada could incur a fnancial loss. 

CPA Canada does not hold directly any collateral as 

security for fnancial obligations of counterparties. 

The maximum exposure of CPA Canada to credit risk 

at March 31 is as follows ($000’s): 
2016 2015 

Cash $ 6,492  $ 4,249 

Amounts receivable 9,785 17,485 

Short-term investments 1,000 2,000 

Investments – Guaranteed 

   investment certifcates 20,41 1 16,470 

Investments – Canadian  

   fxed income  5,256 -

Investments – Index pooled funds: 

   Canadian fxed income 21,035 21,291 

$ 63,979  $ 61,495 

Cash, short-term investments and investments: 

Credit risk associated with cash, short-term 

investments and investments is minimized 

substantially by ensuring that these assets are 

invested in fnancial obligations of: governments; 

major fnancial institutions that have been accorded 

investment grade ratings by a primary rating agency; 

and/or other credit-worthy parties. An ongoing  

review is performed to evaluate changes in the status 

of the issuers of securities authorized for investment 

under the investment policy of CPA Canada. 

Amounts receivable: Credit risk associated with 

amounts receivable is minimized by CPA Canada’s 

large and diverse customer base, which covers 

substantially all business sectors in Canada. 

CPA Canada follows a program of credit evaluations 

of customers and limits the amount of credit 

extended when necessary. 

The concentration of credit risk with respect to 

amounts receivable is limited due to the credit 

quality of the parties extended credit, as well as the 

large number and geographic dispersion of smaller 

customers. Amounts receivable from the provincial 

and territorial bodies generally relate to fees collected 

on CPA Canada’s behalf and costs recoverable from 

the provincial and territorial bodies. At March 31, 2016 

and 2015, amounts receivable from the three largest 

provincial and territorial bodies comprised 74% and 

83%, respectively, of the total amounts due from 

provincial and territorial bodies. 

Concentrations of credit risk with respect to 

guaranteed investment certifcates are mitigated by 

the credit quality of the major fnancial institutions 

issuing the investment. At March 31, 2016, 39% of the 

total holdings in guaranteed investment certifcates 

are with the same fnancial institution (2015 – 89%). 
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Liquidity risk 
Liquidity risk is the risk that CPA Canada will not be 

able to meet a demand for cash or fund its obligations 

as they come due. 

CPA Canada meets its liquidity requirements by 

preparing and monitoring detailed forecasts of cash 

flows from operations, anticipating investing and 

fnancing activities, and holding assets that can be 

readily converted into cash. CPA Canada has a short-

term unsecured bank facility of up to $1.0 million, 

bearing interest at prime, should it be required to 

meet temporary fluctuations in cash requirements. 

At March 31, 2016 and 2015, the bank facility had not 

been drawn upon. 

Market risk 
Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash 

flows of a fnancial instrument will fluctuate because 

of changes in market prices. Market risk is comprised 

of currency risk, interest rate risk and other price risk. 

Currency risk 
Currency risk refers to the risk that the fair value of 

fnancial instruments or future cash flows associated 

with the instruments will fluctuate relative to the 

Canadian dollar due to changes in foreign  

exchange rates. 

The functional currency of CPA Canada is the 

Canadian dollar. CPA Canada infrequently transacts 

in foreign currencies due to certain revenues and 

expenses being denominated in those currencies, 

as well as sourcing certain purchases, services and 

capital asset acquisitions internationally. 

CPA Canada does not use foreign exchange  

forward contracts to manage foreign exchange 

transaction exposures. 

CPA Canada also invests a portion of its investment 

portfolio in an index pooled fund which invests in 

foreign equities. CPA Canada mitigates its currency 

risk exposure by investing in an index pooled fund 

that is composed of investment securities comprised 

of multiple currencies. 

Interest rate risk 
Interest rate risk refers to the risk that the fair value of 

fnancial instruments or future cash flows associated 

with the instruments will fluctuate due to changes in 

market interest rates. 

The exposure of CPA Canada to interest rate risk 

arises from its interest bearing assets and fxed-rate 

long-term debt. 

CPA Canada’s interest-bearing assets include 

cash, short-term investments and investments in 

guaranteed investment certifcates and fxed income 

investments that earn interest at market rates. 

Fluctuations in market rates of interest on cash, short-

term investments and investments in guaranteed 

investment certifcates and fxed income investments 

do not have a signifcant impact on CPA Canada’s 

results of operations. 

CPA Canada manages the interest rate risk exposure 

of its investments in guaranteed investment 

certifcates and fxed income investments by using 

a laddered portfolio with varying terms to maturity. 

The laddered structure of maturities helps to enhance 

the average portfolio yield while reducing the 

sensitivity of the portfolio to the impact of interest 

rate fluctuations. 

The fxed income pooled fund investments consist 

of varying maturities, which reduces the overall 

sensitivity to interest rate changes. 

Other price risk 
Other price risk refers to the risk that the fair value of 

fnancial instruments or future cash flows associated 

with the instruments, will fluctuate because of 

changes in market prices (other than those arising 

from currency risk or interest rate risk), whether 

those changes are caused by factors specifc to the 

individual instrument or its issuer or factors affecting 

all similar instruments traded in the market. 

CPA Canada is exposed to other price risk because of 

its investment in index pooled funds. 
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The investment policy of CPA Canada restricts 

investments in index pooled funds to selected market 

indices. The investment policy for index pooled 

funds provides for an asset mix of 55% (+/-5%) 

fixed income investments and 45% (+/-10%) equities 

and is rebalanced on a quarterly basis. Risk and 

volatility of investment returns are mitigated through 

diversification of investments in different countries, 

business sectors and corporation sizes. 

  

Financial risks associated with defined benefit  
plans for employees 
The primary long-term risk of the post-retirement 

benefits plans to CPA Canada is that the plan assets 

and future operational cash flows of CPA Canada will 

be insufficient to satisfy the plan liabilities. A summary 

of the funded status of the plans is as follows ($000’s): 

2016 2015 
Funded plan: 

   Plan assets at fair value $ 53,662  $ 56,832

   Defined benefit obligations (58,870) (61,069) 

(5,208) (4,237) 

Unfunded plans:

   Defined benefit obligations

 – pension plan (8,472) (8,771)

      – other post-retirement  

benefits (17,419) (17,307)

 (25,891) (26,078) 

Post-retirement benefits liability  

 recognized in the statement 

of financial position 

  

$ (31,099) $ (30,315) 

The liabilities of the plans expose CPA Canada to 

various forms of risk including liquidity risk and the 

risk associated with changes in actuarial assumptions, 

primarily interest rate risk with reference to the 

discount rate used to measure the defined benefit 

obligations of the plans. 

The assets of the plan expose CPA Canada to various 

forms of risk including credit, liquidity and market 

risk which is comprised of interest rate, currency 

and other price risk. The assets of the plan comprise 

investments in index pooled funds. The investment 

policy for the index pooled funds provides for an 

asset mix of 40% (+/-3%) fixed income investments 

and 60% (+/-3%) equities, and is rebalanced on a 

quarterly basis. 

CPA Canada mitigates the risks relating to the plan 

assets in the same manner as its financial instruments. 

In addition, there is a natural offset in relation to the 

interest rate risk on the liability of its funded plan 

arising from its investments in index pooled funds 

whose values are also affected by changes in  

interest rates. 

Changes in risk 
There are no significant changes in the risk profile of 

the financial instruments and defined benefit plans  

of CPA Canada from that of the prior year. 

  

Capability to deliver results 

Capital resources and liquidity 
CPA Canada’s cash position was $6.5 million as of 

March 31, 2016, an increase of $2.3 million from the 

$4.2 million cash position at the prior year-end. Cash 

at year-end is held on deposit with major Canadian 

financial institutions in interest-bearing accounts. 

Cash provided by operating activities increased year-

over-year by $19.9 million. There was a decrease in 

operating cash flow before net changes in non-cash 

working capital of $12.2 million, primarily due to higher 

net income in the prior year. Conversely, there was an 

increase in cash provided by operating activities due 

to net changes in non-cash working capital, primarily 

from lower amounts receivable and higher accounts 

payable and accrued liabilities and deferred revenue. 

Investing activities used cash of $12.3 million primarily 

from the net purchases of investments and capital 

assets. CPA Canada also has available an undrawn 

operating line of credit of $1.0 million with a Canadian 

financial institution. 

Financing activities used cash of $0.4 million for 

the repayment of long-term debt on CPA Canada’s 

Burnaby office. 
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CPA Canada’s short-term investments consist of a 

guaranteed investment certificate with an effective 

interest rate of 1.40% maturing in March 2017 (2015: 

guaranteed investment certificates with effective 

interest rates ranging from 1.40% to 1.45% maturing 

in March 2016).

CPA Canada’s investments are comprised of 

guaranteed investment certificates, Canadian 

fixed income investments and index pooled funds. 

The guaranteed investment certificates have effective 

interest rates ranging from 1.55% to 2.10% (2015: 

1.55% to 2.52%) with maturity dates ranging from 

September 2017 to August 2020 (2015: June 2016 

to November 2019). The Canadian fixed income 

investments have effective interest rates ranging 

from 1.45% to 2.66% with maturity dates ranging 

from August 2017 to May 2025. In the prior year, 

CPA Canada investments held no Canadian fixed 

income investments, except those in the index 

pooled funds.

  $000’s

Fixed Income Investments
at Amortized Cost 

 Matures in fiscal 2017 3,386

 Matures in fiscal 2018 4,514

 Matures in fiscal 2019 5,381

 Matures in fiscal 2020 3,035

 Matures in fiscal 2021 6,078

 Matures after fiscal 2021 3,273

13
The Canadian fixed income investments in the 

index pooled funds have effective interest rates 

ranging from 0.45% to 9.51% (2015: 0.70% to 6.52%), 

and maturity dates ranging from April 2016 to 

November 2065 (2015: April 2015 to December 2064). 

CPA Canada’s investment policy benchmark asset  

mix of the index pooled fund investments is set at 

55% (+/-5%) for fixed income investments and 

45% (+/-10%) for equities. The actual asset mix is 

rebalanced on a quarterly basis. The benchmark asset 

mix has remained the same throughout the year. 

Investment in capital assets is guided by the capital 

asset plan prepared by management each year 

and approved by the Board of Directors. For fiscal 

2015-2016, the plan called for an increase in capital 

spending. The additional capital investment was 

needed primarily for leasehold improvements, and 

furniture and equipment to improve the efficiency 

of workspace and common areas and expand much 

needed meeting space in the Toronto location. 

CPA Canada’s total capital investment in fiscal 

2015-2016 was $4.8 million before lease incentives 

of $1.6 million compared to a $2.0 million capital 

investment in the prior year.

 17 21 12 24 13 v2424%24% 24122424121224%24% 12242412241313242424%24% 241313241717%17% 17131717131317%17%131717132121%21% 211313%13%13131717131313%13%131717131212%12% 12122424121212%12% 122424121313%13% 13241313242413%13% 24131324
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Net assets
Net assets as of March 31, 2016 amounted to 

$34.6 million and consisted of $8.8 million invested 

in capital assets (net book value of capital assets less 

debt and the unamortized balance of deferred tenant 

inducements used to purchase capital assets), and 

$25.8 million of unrestricted net assets. The decrease 

in net assets of $2.0 million during the year was the 

result of the current year operating results where the 

excess of expenses over revenues for fiscal 2015-2016 

was $2.0 million. 55
$000’s

 Canadian fixed income 21,035

 Foreign equities 9,527

 Canadian equities 7,641

+25+20+v
Index Pooled Funds 

at Fair Value

  

5520+20+555555%55%5520+20+552520+20+252525%25% 2520+20+252520+20+2525vv252520+20+252525%25% 2520+20+25vv2520+20+2520+20%20% 20+5520+20+555520%20%5520+20+5520+vv20+20+20%20% 20+vv20+5520+20+5555vv555520+20+555520%20%5520+20+55vv5520+20+55ln fiscal 2015-2016, with the final operational phase  

of unification at the national level completed 

in the prior year, CPA Canada continued to 

effectively manage the significant activity taking 

place throughout the organization. CPA Canada 

undertook further development and expansion 

of the certification education programs, the 

successful branding campaign continued and we 

saw improvement in aided and unaided awareness; 

developing our human capital through our culture 

initiatives and leadership program progressed and 

the organization invested further in infrastructure to 

support operations. Revenues and expenses were 

closely monitored to ensure resources were effectively 

and prudently deployed. The wind down of legacy 

education programs was also carefully scrutinized. 

CPA Canada made great strides in a transitional year 

and under an operating environment that continues  

to evolve and expand. CPA Canada had a very 

successful year and achieved all its key strategic 

initiatives for fiscal 2015-2016. 

The unrestricted net assets of CPA Canada are 

required to provide sufficient financial capital to  

meet any material unexpected financial risks and to 

be able to capitalize on significant new opportunities 

when presented. The unrestricted net assets are also 

available to help maintain reasonable stability 

in annual member fees.

The Audit Committee annually on behalf of the Board 

of Directors reviews the level of unrestricted net 

assets to assess its appropriateness. The unrestricted 

net assets of $25.8 million amount to the equivalent of 

approximately two and three-quarter months of fiscal 

2016 expenses. This is below the three-month expense 

guideline the Audit Committee considers the usual 

minimum amount needed in net assets to meet any 

unexpected financial risk. However, with the transition 

to a single national accounting body now complete, 

management is considering alternatives to effectively 

rebuild its net assets over a suitable period of time to 

a level appropriate to the organization’s risk profile 

and that will also allow the organization to undertake 

new opportunities as they arise.
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Financial Performance

In fiscal 2015–2016, CPA Canada operations resulted 

in a $2.0 million excess of expenses over revenues 

compared to the prior year where the excess of 

revenues over expenses was an unprecedented 

$15.2 million. Total revenues were significantly lower 

than the prior year most notably in certification 

education programs, publications, products and 

services, and investment income and total expenses 

overall were markedly higher than the year before.

2016 Sources of Revenue

56
 Members’ fees

 Certification education programs

 Professional learning and development

 Publications, products and services

 Magazine

 Other

Total revenues of $112.9 million from all sources 

decreased $8.6 million over the prior year. Total 

members’ fees remained flat year over year. 

Certification education programs revenue decreased 

compared to the prior year, from $22.1 million to 

$19.1 million. This was largely from the loss of revenue 

from the planned phase out of the legacy education 

programs during the year, as well as lower revenue 

as a result of slower growth in new certification 

education program volumes than expected. Impacted 

somewhat by the economy, professional learning 

and development revenue remained flat year-over-

year and revenue from publications, products and 

services was $1.2 million lower, reflecting an increase 

in competitive pressure, particularly in Tax products 

during the year, timing of renewals, and lower demand 

for some products. Investment income of $0.2 million 

was also significantly lower in fiscal 2015-2016 by 

$4.9 million, primarily from an unrealized decline in the 

fair value of index pooled funds. In fiscal 2015-2016, 

total CPA Magazine revenue increased $0.3 million 

compared to the prior year and other revenue 

remained flat year over year. 

 17 13 11 2 1 v5656%56%561111%11% 11561111565611%11%56111156131111131311%11% 131111135613135656111156561313565611%11%5613135611115613135656111156562256561111565611%11%5611115622561111565613135656111156561313565622565613135656111156561313565611%11%561313561111561313562256131356111156131356
2%

1313%13% 13131111131313%13% 131111131717%17% 17561717565617%17%56171756
Total Revenue

 $000’s 
140,000

  120,000 —————————————————————————

100,000 —————————————————————————

80,000  ————————————————————————— 

60,000 —————————————————————————

40,000 —————————————————————————

20,000 —————————————————————————

0 —————————————————————————————
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121,560 
 112,899 

1%1%
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Members’ Fees
  $000’s 
140,000

120,000  ————————————————————————— 

100,000  ————————————————————————— 

80,000  ————————————————————————— 

60,000  ————————————————————————— 

40,000  ————————————————————————— 

20,000  ————————————————————————— 

 0  ——————————————————————————

63,639 63,704

2015 2016

 
  

   

 

  

  

  

 

            ———

2016 Sources of Expenses

Certification education programs

Finance and administration

Professional learning and development

Governance and international relations

Publications, products and services 

Standards

Strategic communications, branding  

and public affairs

Research, guidance and support

Magazine

23 15 12 12 12 9 7 6 4 v159 9 151515%15% 159 9 1515121215159 9 15151212151515%15% 151212159 9 15121215
6%

6
6%6%

6
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77%7% 79 779 9 7%7% 9 779 766777%7% 76679 779 9 669 9 779 9 7%7% 9 779 669 779 667%7% 67% 129 9 121212%12% 129 9 1215121215159 9 15151212151512%12% 151212159 9 15121215129 9 121212%12% 129 9 1212121212129 9 12121212121212%12% 121212129 9 121212122323%23%239 779 9 9%9% 9 779 9 779 9 669 9 779 9 9%9% 9 779 669 779 129 9 121212%12% 129 9 1212121212129 9 12121212121212%12% 121212129 9 1212121212121212129 9 121212121212vv1212121212129 9 12121212121212%12% 121212129 9 12121212vv121212129 9 12121212
Total expenses of $114.9 million increased by 

$8.6 million compared to prior year total expenses 

of $106.3 million. Expenses were higher in most 

areas of activity with the exception of finance and 

administration where expenses were $2.3 million 

lower, and governance and international relations 

where expenses were relatively flat compared to the 

prior year. The overall increase in expenses primarily 

reflects the emergence of CPA Canada as a united, 

larger, more influential national organization following 

the completion of the final phase of integration of 

the three national legacy bodies in the prior year. 

In fiscal 2015-2016, after integration, CPA Canada 

was able to concentrate its efforts and resources in 

a more focused way. While a number of transitional 

matters remained and were addressed during the 

year, the organization was able to more effectively 

pursue its key objectives and priorities, as well as its 

core services to members and other stakeholders. 

The organization, among its many achievements, 

continued to develop and promote its certification 

education programs throughout the year; it 

successfully promoted the CPA brand, effectively 

supported standard setting, and continued to deliver 

important research and guidance to members and 

other stakeholders.

12%12% vv9 9 12
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Financial Statements
CPA CanadaCPA Canada

Management Responsibility for  
Financial Reporting
The accompanying financial statements and all other information 

contained in this annual report are the responsibility of the management 

of Chartered Professional Accountants of Canada (CPA Canada). The 

financial statements have been prepared by management in accordance 

with Canadian accounting standards for not-for-profit organizations and 

have been approved by the Board of Directors.

Preparation of financial information is an integral part of management’s 

broader responsibilities for the ongoing operations of CPA Canada, 

which includes adherence by all employees to CPA Canada’s Code 

of Conduct. Management maintains a system of internal accounting 

controls to provide reasonable assurance that transactions are accurately 

recorded on a timely basis, are properly approved and result in reliable 

financial information. Such information also includes data based on 

management’s best estimates and judgments.

The Audit Committee reviews the annual financial statements and 

recommends them to the Board of Directors for its approval. In addition, 

the Audit Committee meets periodically with management and the 

external auditors, and reports to the Board of Directors thereon. The 

Audit Committee also reviews the annual report in its entirety.

The accompanying financial statements have been audited by 

the auditors who are engaged by the Board of Directors on the 

recommendation of the Audit Committee and whose appointment  

was ratified at the annual meeting of members. The auditors have  

access to the Audit Committee, without management present, to  

discuss the results of their work.

Joy Thomas, FCPA, FCMA

President and Chief Executive Officer
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have been approved by the Board of Directors.

Financial 
The accompanying financial statements and all other information 

contained in this annual report are the responsibility of the management 

Financial R
The accompanying financial statements and all other information 

contained in this annual report are the responsibility of the management 

CPA Canada

Management 
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Independent Auditor’s Report 

To the Members of 

Chartered Professional Accountants of Canada 

We have audited the accompanying financial 

statements of Chartered Professional Accountants 

of Canada, which comprise the statement of 

financial position as at March 31, 2016, and the 

statements of operations, changes in net assets and 

cash flows for the year then ended, and a summary 

of significant accounting policies and other 

explanatory information. 

Management’s Responsibility  
for the Financial Statements 
Management is responsible for the preparation and 

fair presentation of these financial statements in 

accordance with Canadian accounting standards for 

not-for-profit organizations, and for such internal 

control as management determines is necessary to 

enable the preparation of financial statements that 

are free from material misstatement, whether due  

to fraud or error. 

Auditor’s Responsibility 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on 

these financial statements based on our audit. 

We conducted our audit in accordance with 

Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. 

Those standards require that we comply with 

ethical requirements and plan and perform the 

audit to obtain reasonable assurance about 

whether the financial statements are free from 

material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain 

audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures 

in the financial statements. The procedures selected 

depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the 

assessment of the risks of material misstatement of 

the financial statements, whether due to fraud or 

error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor 

considers internal control relevant to the entity’s 

preparation and fair presentation of the financial 

statements in order to design audit procedures that 

are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the 

purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness 

of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes 

evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies 

used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates 

made by management, as well as evaluating the 

overall presentation of the financial statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained 

is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 

our audit opinion. 

Opinion 
In our opinion, the financial statements present 

fairly, in all material respects, the financial position 

of Chartered Professional Accountants of Canada 

as at March 31, 2016, and the results of its operations 

and its cash flows for the year then ended in 

accordance with Canadian accounting standards 

for not-for-profit organizations. 

Chartered Professional Accountants 

Licensed Public Accountants 

Toronto, Ontario 

June 21, 2016 
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Statement of Financial Position 
as at March 31 

2016 

($000’s)  

2015 

($000’s) 

ASSETS 

Current Assets 
Cash  $6,492   $4,249 

Amounts receivable [Note 2] 9,785   17,485 

Short-term investments [Note 3]  1,000  2,000 

Investments [Note 4] 3,386  — 

Inventories [Note 5] 551  590 

Prepaid royalties and other assets  2,665  3,094  

23,879   27,418  

Amount receivable [Note 11]  1,190  — 

Investments [Note 4]  60,484   55,046  

Capital Assets [Note 7] 
Tangible assets  16,853  14,312  

Intangible assets  658  1,027  

17,511   15,339  

79,185  70,385 

$103,064   $97,803 

LIABILITIES 

Current Liabilities 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities [Note 8] $15,167   $13,902 

Deferred revenue  13,362  9,175 

Current portion of long-term debt [Note 9] 397  373 

28,926   23,450 

Long-term Debt [Note 9] 6,379 6,776 

Post-retirement Benefits [Note 10] 31,099  30,315 

Deferred Lease Incentives [Note 11] 2,024 637 

39,502  37,728 

68,428  61,178 

NET ASSETS 
Invested in capital assets  8,805  7,691 

Unrestricted  25,831  28,934 

34,636  36,625 

$103,064  $97,803 
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See accompanying notes 

On behalf of the Board, 

Alain Côté, FCPA, FCA 

Director  

Tom Conyers, FCPA, FCA 

Director 



 

 

 

  

Statement of Operations 
for the year ended March 31 

2016 

($000’s)  

2015 

($000’s) 

REVENUES 
Members’ fees  $63,704   $63,639 

Certification education programs 19,148   22,080 

Professional learning and development  14,908  14,945 

Publications, products and services  11,823   13,048 

CPA Magazine  2,670  2,374 

Investment income [Note 12] 159  5,045 

Other  487  429 

112,899  121,560 

EXPENSES 
Certification education programs 26,071   20,258 

Finance and administration  16,959  19,261 

Professional learning and development  14,038  13,077 

Governance and international relations  13,702  13,833 

Publications, products and services [Note 5]  13,278  12,817 

Standards  10,170  9,263 

Strategic communications, branding and public affairs  8,552  7,080 

Research, guidance and support  7,366  6,156 

CPA Magazine  4,756  4,572 

114,892  106,317 

EXCESS OF REVENUES OVER EXPENSES 

(EXPENSES OVER REVENUES) $(1,993) $15,243  

See accompanying notes 
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Statement of Changes in Net Assets 
for the year ended March 31 

Invested in 

Capital 

Assets  Unrestricted 

2016 

($000’s)  

Invested  in 

Capital 

Assets  Unrestricted 

2015 

($000’s)  

Balance, beginning of year $7,691 $28,934 $36,625 $7,487  $21,188 $28,675 

Excess of revenues over expenses 

 (expenses over revenues) (3,660) 1,667 (1,993) (1,814) 17,057 15,243 

Purchase of tangible assets 4,555 (4,555) — 1,417 (1,417) — 

Purchase of intangible assets 219 (219) — 601 (601) — 

Defined benefit costs – 

remeasurements and other items — 4 4 — (7,293)      (7,293) 

Balance, end of year $8,805  $25,831 $34,636 $7,691 $28,934 $36,625 

See accompanying notes 
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Statement of Cash Flows 
for the year ended March 31 

2016 

($000’s)  

2015 

($000’s) 

OPERATING ACTIVITIES 
Excess of revenues over expenses (expenses over revenues) $(1,993) $15,243 

Adjustments to determine net cash provided by (used in) operating activities: 

Amortization of tangible assets 1,962 1,759 

Amortization of intangible assets 588 609 

Loss on disposal of tangible assets 52 36 

Interest capitalized on investments (329) (115) 

Interest received on cash equivalents capitalized in prior years — 11 

Interest received on investments capitalized in prior years 114 79 

Reinvested distributions from index pooled funds (1,980) (1,976) 

Realized gains on sale of investments (153) (481) 

Unrealized depreciation (appreciation) in fair value of index pooled funds 2,516 (2,051) 

Required post-retirement benefits funding (2,211) (2,042) 

Post-retirement benefits expense 2,999 2,594 

Amortization of deferred lease incentives (251) (190) 

1,314 13,476 

Change in non-cash working capital items 

Amounts receivable 7,700 (7,387) 

Inventories 39 98 

Prepaid royalties and other assets  429 (376) 

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 1,265 (1,598) 

Deferred revenue 4,187 (9,171) 

14,934 (4,958) 

INVESTING ACTIVITIES 
Purchase of short-term investments (1,000) (2,000) 

Purchase of investments (25,028) (29,631) 

Proceeds on sale of short-term investments 2,000 4,230 

Proceeds on sale of investments 16,036 20,864 

Purchase of tangible assets (4,555) (1,417) 

Purchase of intangible assets (219) (601) 

Proceeds on disposal of tangible assets — 64 

Receipt of lease incentives – tenant inducement 448 — 

(12,318) (8,491) 

FINANCING ACTIVITIES 
Repayment of long-term debt (373) (508) 

Net change in cash 2,243 (13,957) 

Cash, beginning of year 4,249 18,206 

Cash, end of year $6,492 $4,249 

See accompanying notes 
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Notes to the Financial Statements 
for the year ended March 31, 2016 (all amounts in $ thousands) 

Nature and description of the organization 

Chartered Professional Accountants of Canada (CPA Canada) was incorporated as a not-for-profit 

corporation under the Canada Not-for-profit Corporations Act on January 1, 2013. CPA Canada is exempt 

from federal and provincial income taxes. 

Canada’s accounting landscape has experienced significant change as the Canadian accounting 

profession united under the Chartered Professional Accountant (CPA) designation. The unification of the 

three predecessor national accounting organizations was implemented in phases and was completed on 

October 1, 2014 when CPA Canada began fully unified operations. 

CPA Canada conducts research into current business issues and supports the setting of accounting, auditing 

and assurance standards for business, not-for-profit organizations and government. It assists and encourages 

organization members and legacy bodies in promoting and developing appropriate and uniform standards 

of qualification for admission of Chartered Professional Accountants and maintaining appropriate standards 

of professional conduct for all Chartered Professional Accountants. CPA Canada issues guidance, publishes 

professional literature, develops certification education and professional learning programs, and represents 

the CPA profession nationally and internationally. 

1. Significant accounting policies 

These financial statements have been prepared by management in accordance with Canadian accounting 

standards for not-for-profit organizations and include the following significant accounting policies: 

a)  Revenue recognition 
   (i) Members’ fees 
Members’ fees are recognized as revenue proportionately over the fiscal year to which they relate. 

Membership fees received in advance of the membership year to which they relate are recorded as 

deferred  revenue. 

     (ii) Certification education programs 
Revenue is recognized upon a candidate’s enrolment in a certification education program module. 

Examination fees are recognized as revenue when the examinations are held. The amount received in 

advance of candidate enrolment or an examination being held is recorded as deferred revenue. 

   (iii) Professional learning and development 
Revenue is recognized when professional learning and development programs are presented. 

The amount received in advance of the program being held is recorded as deferred revenue. 

   (iv) Publications, products and services 
Revenue is recognized at the time of shipment, when the service is rendered, or proportionately 

over the period of the subscription depending on the nature of the product or service. The amount 

received in advance of shipment, the service being rendered or the subscription period is recorded 

as deferred revenue. 
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   (v) CPA Magazine 

 

Magazine subscriptions are recognized as revenue over the period of the subscriptions. Advertising 

revenue is recognized in the period in which the advertisement is published. The amount received 

in advance of the subscription period or the advertisement being published is recorded as 

deferred revenue.  

    (vi) Investment income 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

  

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
for the year ended March 31, 2016 (all amounts in $ thousands) 

1. Significant accounting policies (continued) 

a) Revenue recognition (continued) 

Investment income comprises interest from cash, short-term investments and investments, 

distributions from index pooled funds, realized gains and losses on the sale of investments, and 

the unrealized appreciation and depreciation in the fair value of index pooled funds. Revenue is 

recognized on an accrual basis. Interest earned from investments is recognized over the terms of 

the respective investments using the effective interest method. 

b)  Short-term investments 
S hort-term investments consist of guaranteed investment certificates with maturity dates ranging from 

91 days to twelve months from date of acquisition. 

c)  Investments 
I nvestments consist of guaranteed investment certificates and fixed income investments with maturity 

dates of greater than twelve months from date of acquisition, and index pooled funds. Guaranteed 

investment certificates and fixed income investments maturing within twelve months from the year-end 

date are classified as current. 

d)  Donated services 
T he work of CPA Canada is dependent on the voluntary service of many individuals who are experts 

and industry leaders of specialized subject matters. Since these services are not normally purchased 

by CPA Canada and because of the difficulty of determining their fair value, donated services are not 

recognized in the financial statements. 

e)  Prepaid expenses 
P repaid expenses primarily comprise advance payments made to vendors in the current fiscal year for 

goods and services to be received in the next fiscal year. Prepaid expenses are recognized as expenses 

in the period when the goods and services are received. 

f)  Inventories 
I nventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realizable value. The cost of inventories includes 

all costs of purchase, costs of conversion and other costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their 

present location and condition, and is determined on a first-in, first-out basis. 
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 Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
for the year ended March 31, 2016 (all amounts in $ thousands) 

1. Significant accounting policies (continued) 

g) Financial  instruments 
  (i) Measurement of financial assets and liabilities 
C PA Canada initially measures its financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value adjusted by, in 

the case of a financial instrument that will not be measured subsequently at fair value, the amount of 

transaction costs directly attributable to the instrument. 

C PA Canada subsequently measures all of its financial assets and financial liabilities at amortized 

cost, except for investments in index pooled funds that are quoted in an active market, which 

are measured at fair value. Changes in fair value are recognized in income in the period the 

changes occur. 

A mortized cost is the amount at which a financial asset or financial liability is measured at initial 

recognition minus principal repayments, plus or minus the cumulative amortization of any difference 

between that initial amount and the maturity amount, and minus any reduction for impairment. 

T ransaction costs are recognized in income in the period incurred, except those relating to financial 

instruments which will subsequently be measured at amortized cost. Transaction costs associated 

with the acquisition and disposal of fixed income investments are capitalized and are included in the 

acquisition costs or reduce proceeds on disposal. Investment management fees associated with the 

index pooled funds are expensed as incurred. 

Financial assets measured at amortized cost include cash, amounts receivable, short-term 

investments, and investments in guaranteed investment certificates and fixed income investments. 

Financial liabilities measured at amortized cost include accounts payable and accrued liabilities and 

long-term debt. 

Financial assets measured at fair value include investments in index pooled funds that are quoted in 

an active market. 

The fair values of investments in index pooled funds are determined by reference to the latest closing 

transactional net asset value of each respective index pooled fund. 

 (ii) Impairment 
At the end of each reporting period, CPA Canada assesses whether there are any indications that 

a financial asset measured at amortized cost may be impaired. Objective evidence of impairment 

includes observable data that comes to the attention of CPA Canada, including but not limited 

to the following events: significant financial difficulty of the issuer; a breach of contract, such 

as a default or delinquency in interest or principal payments; and bankruptcy or other financial 

reorganization proceedings. 

54 CPA Canada Financial Statements 2015-2016 



  

     

  

   

  

  

  

 
   

 

   

   

 

  

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
for the year ended March 31, 2016 (all amounts in $ thousands) 

1. Significant accounting policies (continued) 

g) Financial instruments (continued) 

(ii) Impairment (continued) 

When there is an indication of impairment, CPA Canada determines whether a significant adverse 

change has occurred during the period in the expected timing or amount of future cash flows from 

the financial asset. 

When CPA Canada identifies a significant adverse change in the expected timing or amount of future 

cash flows from a financial asset, it reduces the carrying amount of the financial asset to the greater 

of the following: 

i) the present value of the cash flows expected to be generated by holding the financial asset 

discounted using a current market rate of interest appropriate to the financial asset; and 

ii) the amount that could be realized by selling the financial asset at the statement of financial 

position date. 

A ny impairment of the financial asset is charged to income in the period in which the 

impairment occurs. 

When the extent of impairment of a previously written-down financial asset decreases and the 

decrease can be related to an event occurring after the impairment was recognized, the previously 

recognized impairment loss is reversed to the extent of the improvement, but not in excess of the 

impairment loss. The amount of the reversal is recognized in income in the period the reversal occurs. 

h)  Capital assets 
The costs of capital assets are capitalized upon meeting the criteria for recognition as a capital asset, 

with the exception of expenditures on internally generated intangible assets during the development 

phase, which are expensed as incurred. The cost of a capital asset comprises its purchase price and any 

directly attributable cost of preparing the asset for its intended use. 

A capital asset is tested for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that 

its carrying amount may not be recoverable. If any potential impairment is identified, then the amount 

of the impairment is quantified by comparing the carrying value of the capital asset to its fair value. 

Any impairment of the capital asset is charged to income in the period in which the impairment occurs. 

An impairment loss is not reversed if the fair value of the capital asset subsequently increases. 

   (i) Tangible assets 
Tangible assets, consisting of land, building, building improvements, furniture and equipment 

and leasehold improvements, are measured at cost less accumulated amortization, if applicable, 

and accumulated impairment losses. 
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 Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
for the year ended March 31, 2016 (all amounts in $ thousands) 

1. Significant accounting policies (continued) 

h) Capital assets (continued) 

(i) Tangible assets (continued) 

Amortization is provided for, upon the commencement of the utilization of the assets, on a straight-

line basis at rates designed to amortize the cost of the tangible assets over their estimated useful 

lives as follows: 

Building 25 years 

Building improvements 10 years 

Furniture and equipment 3 to 10 years 

Leasehold improvements Remaining terms of the relevant leases 

(ii) Intangible assets 
Intangible assets, consisting of separately acquired computer application software, are measured at 

cost less accumulated amortization and accumulated impairment losses. 

Amortization is provided for, upon the commencement of the utilization of the assets, on a straight-

line basis at rates designed to amortize the cost of the intangible assets over three to five years. 

i)  Post-retirement  benefits 

Defined benefit plans 
(i) A defined benefit liability is recognized in the statement of financial position to the extent that the 

defined benefit obligations of a plan exceed the fair value of the plan’s assets. 

Components of the total cost of a defined benefit plan, excluding remeasurements and other items, 

are recognized in income in the period incurred. 

Remeasurements and other items are recognized in the period incurred directly in net assets in the 

statement of financial position rather than in the statement of operations and are presented as a 

separately identified line item in the statement of changes in net assets. 

(ii) Defined benefit obligations are actuarially determined using the projected benefit method prorated 

on services and management’s best estimates of retirement age, mortality, discount rates to reflect 

the time value of money, future salary and benefit levels and other actuarial assumptions. 

(iii) Defined benefit obligations are measured using actuarial valuation reports prepared for accounting 

purposes on an annual basis under which actuarial assumptions, including the discount rate, are 

updated annually. 

(iv) Plan assets are measured at fair value. 

(v) Plan assets and defined benefit obligations are measured at March 31. 
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
for the year ended March 31, 2016 (all amounts in $ thousands) 

1. Significant accounting policies (continued) 

i) Post-retirement benefits (continued) 

Defined benefit plans (continued) 

(vi) The components of the total cost of a defined benefit plan for a period are comprised of: 

• current service cost; 
•	 finance	 cost; and 
• remeasurements and other items. 

Current service cost for the period is the actuarial present value of benefits attributed to employees’ 

services rendered during the period, reduced to reflect employee contributions. 

Finance cost for the period is the net interest on the defined benefit liability calculated by 

multiplying the defined benefit liability at the beginning of the period by the discount rate used in 

determining the defined benefit obligation at the beginning of the period. Finance cost for a defined 

benefit asset is a credit. 

Remeasurements and other items are comprised of: 

•	 	the	 difference	 between 	the	 actual	 return	 on	 plan	 assets	 and	 the	 return	 calculated 	using	 the	 
discount rate used in determining the defined benefit obligation at the beginning of the period; 

• actuarial gains and losses; 
•	 the	 effect of any valuation allowance in the case of a	 net defined benefit asset; 
•	 past	 service costs; and 
• gains and losses arising from settlements and curtailments. 

Actuarial gains and losses can arise in a given year from: 

•	 	the	 difference	 between 	the	 actual	 defined	 benefit	 obligations	 at	 the	 end	 of	 the	 year	 and	 the	 
expected defined benefit obligations at the end of the year; and 

•	 changes in actuarial assumptions. 

Defined contribution plans 
(i) Components of the total cost of a defined contribution plan are recognized in income in the 

period incurred. 

(ii) The components of the total cost of a defined contribution plan for a period are comprised of: 

• current service cost; 
•	 past	 service costs; 
•	 	interest 	cost	 on	 the	 estimated	 present	 value	 of	 any 	contributions	 required 	in	 future 	periods	 
related to employee services rendered during the current period or prior periods; and 

•	 a	 reduction 	for	 the interest income 	for	 the period on any unallocated plan surplus. 

Current service cost for the period is comprised of the contributions required to be made in the period 

in exchange for employee services rendered during the period and the estimated present value of 

any contributions required to be made in future periods related to employee services rendered during 

the period. 
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 Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
for the year ended March 31, 2016 (all amounts in $ thousands) 

1. Significant accounting policies (continued) 

j) Deferred lease incentives 
Lease incentives received include reduced rent benefits and tenant inducements received in cash. 

Lease incentives received in connection with original leases are amortized to income on a straight-line 

basis over the terms of the original leases. Lease incentives received in connection with re-negotiated 

leases are amortized to income on a straight-line basis over the period from the expiration date of the 

respective original lease to the expiration date of the re-negotiated lease. 

k)  Net assets invested in capital assets 
Net assets invested in capital assets comprises the net book value of capital assets less debt and the 

unamortized balance of deferred tenant inducements used to purchase capital assets. 

l)  Management  estimates 
 The preparation of financial statements in conformity with Canadian accounting standards for not-for-

profit organizations requires management to make judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the 

application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and the disclosure 

of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts 

of revenues and expenses during the current period. Actual results may differ from the estimates, 

the impact of which would be recorded in future periods. 

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting 

estimates are recognized in the year in which the estimates are revised and in any future years affected. 

Management considers the discount rates used to measure defined benefit obligations to be 

significant estimates. 

2. Amounts receivable 

2016 2015 

AMOUNTS DUE FROM PROVINCIAL AND TERRITORIAL BODIES: 
Professional services products, interprovincial education services and other $6,784 $13,443 

Member fees and magazine student subscriptions 1,083 606 

7,867 14,049 

AMOUNTS DUE FROM OTHERS: 
Professional services products, magazine advertising, and other 1,968 3,551 

Allowance for doubtful accounts (50) (115) 

1,918 3,436 

$9,785 $17,485 
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
for the year ended March 31, 2016 (all amounts in $ thousands) 

3. Short-term investments 

Guaranteed investment certificate with an effective interest rate of 1.40% maturing in March 2017 

(2015 – guaranteed investment certificates with effective interest rates ranging from 1.40% to 1.45%  

maturing in March 2016). 

4. Investments 

2016 2015 

MEASURED AT AMORTIZED COST 
Guaranteed investment certificates $20,411  $16,470 

Canadian  fixed  income  5,256  — 

25,667  16,470 

MEASURED AT FAIR VALUE 
Index pooled funds  – Canadian fixed income 21,035  21,291 

– Canadian equities 7,641  7,736 

– Foreign equities 9,527  9,549 

38,203  38,576 

$63,870  $55,046 

CURRENT 

Guaranteed investment certificates $3,386 $ — 

Canadian  fixed  income  —  — 

3,386  — 

LONG-TERM 
Guaranteed investment certificates 17,025  16,470 

Canadian  fixed  income 5,256  — 

Index pooled funds 38,203  38,576 

60,484  55,046 

$63,870  $55,046 

The guaranteed investment certificates have effective interest rates ranging from 1.55% to 2.10% (2015 – 1.55% 

to 2.52%), with maturity dates ranging from September 2017 to August 2020 (2015 – June 2016 to 

November 2019). 

The Canadian fixed income investments have effective interest rates ranging from 1.45% to 2.66% with 

maturity dates ranging from August 2017 to May 2025. 

The Canadian fixed income investments in the index pooled funds have effective interest rates ranging  

from 0.45% to 9.51% (2015 – 0.70% to 6.52%) and maturity dates ranging from April 2016 to November 2065 

(2015 – April 2015 to December 2064). 

CPA Canada Financial Statements 2015-2016 59 



    

 

    

   

  

    

   

     

  

     

 

 Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
for the year ended March 31, 2016 (all amounts in $ thousands) 

5. Inventories 

Inventories are comprised of books and publications available for sale. The amount of inventories recognized 

as an expense during the year was $1,443 (2015 – $1,358). 

6. Financial instrument risk management 

CPA Canada is exposed to various risks through its financial instruments. The following analysis provides 

a measure of the risk exposure and concentrations. 

The financial instruments of CPA Canada and the nature of the risks to which they may be subject are 

as follows: 

Risks 

Market risk 

Financial instruments Credit Liquidity Currency Interest rate Other price 

Cash X X 

Amounts receivable X 

Short-term investments X X 

Investments — Guaranteed 

investment  certificates  X X 
Investments — Canadian fixed income X X 
Investments — index pooled funds: 

Canadian fixed income  X X X 

Investments — index pooled funds: 
Canadian and foreign equities X X 

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities X 

Long-term debt X X 

CPA Canada manages its exposure to the risks associated with financial instruments that have the potential to 

affect its operating and financial performance in accordance with its Risk Management Policy. The objective 

of the policy is to reduce volatility in cash flow and earnings and to safeguard assets. The Board of Directors 

monitors compliance with risk management policies and reviews risk management policies and procedures on 

an annual basis. 

CPA Canada also has a specific Investment Policy that details the asset quality and proportion of fixed income 

and equity securities in which investments are made. 

CPA Canada does not use derivative financial instruments to manage its risks. 

Credit risk 
CPA Canada is exposed to credit risk resulting from the possibility that parties may default on their financial 

obligations, or if there is a concentration of transactions carried out with the same party, or if there is a 

concentration of financial obligations which have similar economic characteristics that could be similarly 
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
for the year ended March 31, 2016 (all amounts in $ thousands) 

6. Financial instrument risk management (continued) 

Credit risk (continued) 

affected by changes in economic conditions, such that CPA Canada could incur a financial loss. CPA Canada 

does not hold directly any collateral as security for financial obligations of counterparties. 

The maximum exposure of CPA Canada to credit risk at March 31 is as follows: 

2016 2015 

Cash $6,492 $4,249 

Amounts receivable 9,785 17,485 

Short-term investments 1,000 2,000 

Investments – Guaranteed investment certificates 20,411 16,470 

Investments – Canadian fixed income  5,256 — 

Investments – Index pooled funds: Canadian fixed income 21,035 21,291 

$63,979 $61,495 

Cash, short-term investments and investments: Credit risk associated with cash, short-term investments and 

investments is minimized substantially by ensuring that these assets are invested in financial obligations of: 

governments; major financial institutions that have been accorded investment grade ratings by a primary 

rating agency; and/or other credit-worthy parties. An ongoing review is performed to evaluate changes in the 

status of the issuers of securities authorized for investment under the investment policy of CPA Canada. 

Amounts receivable: Credit risk associated with amounts receivable is minimized by CPA Canada’s  

large and diverse customer base, which covers substantially all business sectors in Canada. CPA Canada 

follows a program of credit evaluations of customers and limits the amount of credit extended when 

deemed necessary. 

The concentration of credit risk with respect to amounts receivable is limited due to the credit quality of the 

parties who are extended credit, as well as the large number and geographic dispersion of smaller customers. 

Amounts receivable from the provincial and territorial bodies generally relates to members’ fees collected on 

CPA Canada’s behalf and costs recoverable from the provincial and territorial bodies. At March 31, 2016 and 

2015, amounts receivable from the three largest provincial and territorial bodies comprised 74% and 83%, 

respectively, of the total amounts due from provincial and territorial bodies. 

Concentrations of credit risk with respect to guaranteed investment certificates are mitigated by the credit 

quality of the major financial institutions issuing the investment. At March 31, 2016, 39% of the total holdings in 

guaranteed investment certificates are with the same financial institution (2015 – 89%). 

Liquidity risk 
Liquidity risk is the risk that CPA Canada will not be able to meet a demand for cash or fund its obligations 

as they come due. 

CPA Canada meets its liquidity requirements by preparing and monitoring detailed forecasts of cash flows 

from operations, anticipating investing and financing activities and holding assets that can be readily 
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 Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
for the year ended March 31, 2016 (all amounts in $ thousands) 

6. Financial instrument risk management (continued) 

Liquidity risk (continued) 

converted into cash. CPA Canada has a short-term unsecured bank facility of up to $950, bearing interest at 

prime, should it be required to meet temporary fluctuations in cash requirements. At March 31, 2016 and 2015, 

the bank facility had not been drawn upon. 

Market risk 
Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of 

changes in market prices. Market risk is comprised of currency risk, interest rate risk and other price risk. 

Currency risk 
Currency risk refers to the risk that the fair value of financial instruments or future cash flows associated with 

the instruments will fluctuate relative to the Canadian dollar due to changes in foreign exchange rates. 

The functional currency of CPA Canada is the Canadian dollar. CPA Canada infrequently transacts in foreign 

currencies due to certain revenues and expenses being denominated in those currencies, as well as sourcing 

certain purchases, services and capital asset acquisitions internationally. 

CPA Canada does not use foreign exchange forward contracts to manage foreign exchange transaction 

exposures. 

CPA Canada also invests a portion of its investment portfolio in an index pooled fund which invests in 

foreign equities. CPA Canada mitigates its currency risk exposure by investing in an index pooled fund that is 

composed of investment securities comprised of multiple currencies. 

Interest rate risk 
Interest rate risk refers to the risk that the fair value of financial instruments or future cash flows associated 

with the instruments will fluctuate due to changes in market interest rates. 

The exposure of CPA Canada to interest rate risk arises from its interest bearing assets and fixed-rate  

long-term debt. 

CPA Canada’s interest bearing assets include cash, short-term investments and investments in guaranteed 

investment certificates and fixed income investments that earn interest at market rates. 

Fluctuations in market rates of interest on cash, short-term investments and investments in guaranteed 

investment certificates and fixed income investments do not have a significant impact on CPA Canada’s 

results of operations. 

CPA Canada manages the interest rate risk exposure of its investments in guaranteed investment certificates 

and fixed income investments by using a laddered portfolio with varying terms to maturity. The laddered 

structure of maturities helps to enhance the average portfolio yield while reducing the sensitivity of the 

portfolio to the impact of interest rate fluctuations. 
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
for the year ended March 31, 2016 (all amounts in $ thousands) 

6. Financial instrument risk management (continued) 

Interest rate risk (continued) 

The fixed income pooled fund investments consist of varying maturities which reduces the overall sensitivity 

to interest rate changes. 

Other price risk 
Other price risk refers to the risk that the fair value of financial instruments or future cash flows associated 

with the instruments will fluctuate because of changes in market prices (other than those arising from 

currency risk or interest rate risk), whether those changes are caused by factors specific to the individual 

instrument or its issuer or factors affecting all similar instruments traded in the market. 

CPA Canada is exposed to other price risk because of its investment in index pooled funds. 

The investment policy of CPA Canada restricts investments in index pooled funds to selected market 

indices. The investment policy for index pooled funds provides for an asset mix of 55% (+/-5%) fixed income 

investments and 45% (+/-10%) equities and is rebalanced to the asset mix on a quarterly basis. Risk and 

volatility of investment returns are mitigated through diversification of investments in different countries, 

business sectors and corporation sizes. 

Changes in risk 
There are no significant changes in the risk profile of the financial instruments of CPA Canada from that of the 

prior year. 

7. Capital assets 

Cost

Accumulated 

amortization   

2016 

Net book  

value  Cost

Accumulated  

amortization  

2015 

Net book 

value 

a)  Tangible assets 

Land   $3,661  $ —  $3,661  $3,661  $ — $3,661 

Building 8,543  2,563  5,980  8,543  2,221  6,322 

Building improvements  1,836  1,305  531  1,836  1,121  715  

Furniture and equipment  8,951  5,724  3,227  8,435  6,214  2,221 

Leasehold improvements  6,379  2,925  3,454  4,412  3,019  1,393 

29,370  12,517  16,853  26,887 12,575  14,312 

b)  Intangible assets 

Computer application software  5,329  4,671  658  6,949  5,922  1,027 

$34,699  $17,188  $17,511  $33,836  $18,497  $15,339 

 

During the year, tangible assets with a net book value of $52 (cost $2,072 and accumulated amortization 

$2,020) and intangible assets with a net book value of nil (cost and accumulated amortization both of $1,839) 

were disposed of at a loss of $52. 

CPA Canada Financial Statements 2015-2016 63 



  

  

   

  

 

                                                                                                                                                                

  

 

 

    

 

 

 

    

  

 

 

                                                                                                                                         

                                                                                                                                                                                         

 Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
for the year ended March 31, 2016 (all amounts in $ thousands) 

8. Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 

2016 2015 

Trade payables and accrued liabilities $14,932 $13,646 

Sales taxes 235 255 

Payroll and withholding taxes — 1 

$15,167 $13,902 

9. Long-term debt 

2016 2015 

Business mortgage, interest at a fixed rate of 5.74% per annum, payable monthly, up to and including  

the maturity date which is October 17, 2017, when the amount outstanding is due and payable in full.  

Currently  CPA Canada pays $64 per month, as blended payments of principal and interest. $6,776 $7,149 

Current portion (397)  (373) 

$6,379 $6,776 

The business mortgage is secured by a demand all indebtedness first mortgage and assignment of rents 

charging the Burnaby office of CPA Canada. Interest paid during the year amounted to $396 (2015 – $419). 

10. Post-retirement benefits 

2016 2015 

Liability recognized in the statement of financial position: 

Pension plans $13,680 $13,008 

Other post-retirement benefits 17,419 17,307 

$31,099 $30,315 

Defined benefit costs recognized in the statement of operations: 

Pension plans $1,942 $1,632 

Other post-retirement benefits 1,057 962 

$2,999 2,594 

Defined benefit costs recognized in the statement of changes in net assets: 

Pension plans $562 $4,879 

Other post-retirement benefits (566) 2,414 

$(4) $7,293 
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
for the year ended March 31, 2016 (all amounts in $ thousands) 

10. Post-retirement benefits (continued) 
2016 2015 

Total cash payments for pension and other post-retirement benefits: 
Required minimum contributions to the funded pension plan under current pension regulations $1,370  $1,308 

Benefit payments directly to beneficiaries for the unfunded supplementary pension plan 462  446 

Contribution to fund current costs of the other post-retirement benefits plan 379  288 

$2,211  $2,042 

a) Pension plans 
CPA Canada maintains a registered pension plan with defined benefit and defined contribution 

components and a non-registered unfunded supplementary pension plan. 

Effective July 1, 2010, the registered pension plan was amended to eliminate the non-contributory 

option for new plan members of the defined benefit component after that date. Effective May 1, 2012, 

the defined benefit component of the registered pension plan and the supplementary pension plan were 

closed to new members. Members of the defined benefit component of the registered pension plan 

continued to accrue services until October 31, 2013. On November 1, 2013, the registered pension plan 

opened its defined contribution component to new members and existing defined benefit component 

members with less than 55 combined years of age plus service at November 1, 2013. Members with 55 

or more combined years of age plus service were offered the option of staying in the defined benefit 

component of the registered pension plan until October 31, 2016 or transferring their participation to 

the defined contribution component of the registered pension plan effective November 1, 2013. All 

future service of plan members from November 1, 2013 onward is recognized in the defined contribution 

component of the registered pension plan with the exception of plan members who may have elected to 

accrue services in the defined benefit component of the registered pension plan until October 31, 2016. 

CPA Canada funds the registered pension plan in the amount that is required by governing legislation 

and determined by actuarial valuations for funding purposes. Pension benefits in excess of the maximum 

allowable benefits permitted pursuant to the Income Tax Act are provided from the supplementary 

pension plan for those members who qualified prior to November 1, 2013. Contributions are made to the 

supplementary plan as benefits are paid. 

The most recent actuarial valuation of the pension plans for accounting purposes was made on 

March 31, 2016. 

The most recent actuarial valuation of the pension plans for funding purposes was made on January 1, 

2014 and indicated required minimum funding contributions for fiscal 2016 of approximately $1,003 

(2015 – $974) for current service and $526 (2015 – $363) for solvency and going concern amortization. 

For fiscal 2017, the indicated required minimum funding contributions for current service are $598 and for 

solvency and going concern amortization are $334. The next required actuarial valuation of the pension 

plan for funding purposes will be on January 1, 2017. 
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 Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
for the year ended March 31, 2016 (all amounts in $ thousands) 

10. Post-retirement benefits (continued) 

a) Pension plans (continued) 

2016 2015 

Registered  
plan  

Supplementary  
plan  Total  

Registered  
plan  

Supplementary 
plan  Total 

(i) Funded status of plans 

Plan assets at fair value $53,662 $ — $53,662 $56,832 $ — $56,832 

Defined benefit obligations (58,870)  (8,472)  (67,342)  (61,069)  (8,771)  (69,840) 

Defined  benefit  liability  $(5,208)  $(8,472)  $(13,680)  $(4,237)  $(8,771)  $(13,008) 

(ii) Plan assets at fair value 

Balance, beginning of year $56,832 $ — $56,832 $51,014 $ — $51,014 

Actual return on plan assets  (1,458)  — (1,458)  6,597  — 6,597 

Employer’s contributions  1,370  462  1,832  1,308  446  1,754 

Employees’ contributions  379  — 379  518  — 518 

Benefits paid (3,461)  (462)  (3,923)  (2,605)  (446)  (3,051) 

Balance, end of year  $53,662  $ — $53,662  $56,832  $ — $56,832 

Plan assets consist of: 

Equity securities  59.9%  — 59.9%  59.8%  — 59.8% 
Debt securities  40.1%  — 40.1%  40.2%  — 40.2% 

100.0%  — 100.0%  100.0%  — 100.0% 

(iii) Defined benefit obligations 

Balance, beginning of year $(61,069) $(8,771) $(69,840) $(51,416) $(7,849) $(59,265) 

Current service cost (1,331)  (143)  (1,474)  (1,118)  (170)  (1,288) 

Interest cost on defined  

benefit  obligations  (2,198)  (316)  (2,514)  (2,376)  (373)  (2,749) 

Employees’ contributions  (379)  — (379)  (518)  — (518) 

Benefits paid 3,461  462  3,923  2,605  446  3 ,051 

Actuarial gain (loss)  2,646  296  2,942  (8,246)  (825)  (9,071) 

Balance, end of year  $(58,870)  $(8,472)  $(67,342)  $(61,069)  $ (8,771)  $(69,840) 
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
for the year ended March 31, 2016 

10. Post-retirement benefits (continued) 

a) Pension plans (continued) 

(all amounts in $ thousands) 

2016 2015 

Registered  Supplementary  Registered  Supplementary 
plan  plan  Total  plan  plan  Total 

(iv) Components of defined benefit costs 

Current service cost $1,331 $143 $1,474 $1,118 $170 $1,288 

Finance cost  152  316  468  (29)  373  344 

Defined benefit costs recognized  
in the statement of operations 1,483  459  1,942  1,089  543  1,632 

Remeasurements and other items: 

• difference between the actual  
return on plan assets and the 

return calculated using the  

discount rate used in determining  

the defined benefit obligation  

at the beginning of the period 3,504  — 3,504  (4,192)  — (4,192) 

• actuarial  (gain)  loss  (2,646)  (296)  (2,942)  8,246  825  9,071 

Defined benefit costs recognized  
in the statement of changes 

in net assets 858  (296)  562  4,054  825  4,879 

Defined benefit costs $2,341  $163  $2,504  $5,143  $1,368  $6,511 

(v) Actuarial assumptions 

The significant actuarial assumptions used in measuring the defined pension obligations and the 

defined benefit costs for the years then ended are as follows: 

2016 2015 

Defined benefit  
obligations  

Defined  
benefit costs 

Defined  benefit 
obligations  

Defined 
benefit costs 

Discount rate 3.90% 3.60% 3.60% 4.90% 

Rate of compensation increase  3.00%  3.00%  3.00%  3.00% 
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 Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
for the year ended March 31, 2016 (all amounts in $ thousands) 

10. Post-retirement benefits (continued) 

a) Pension plans (continued) 

(vi) Defined contribution component 
CPA Canada matches employee contributions to the defined contribution component of the 

registered pension plan. The matching rate is based on the member’s level of contributions, earnings 

and years of service. The required contributions during fiscal 2016 were $1,482 (2015 – $1,031). 

Defined contribution account balances held in the Society of Management Accountants of Canada 

Employees’ (2009) Pension Plan were transferred to the defined contribution component of the 

CPA Canada registered pension plan in 2016, after approval was granted by the Financial Services 

Commission of Ontario. 

   b) Other post-retirement benefits 
CPA Canada provides non-pension post-retirement health, dental, and nominal life insurance benefits 

to its retired employees through defined benefit plans. Benefits are provided through a group insurance 

contract and are paid through the payment of annual insurance premiums to an insurance provider. 

The most recent actuarial valuation of the non-pension post-retirement benefit plans for accounting 

purposes was made on March 31, 2016. 

2016 2015 

(i)   Funded status of plans 

Plan assets at fair value $— $— 

Defined benefit obligations (17,419) (17,307) 

Defined benefit liability $(17,419) $(17,307) 

(ii)  Plan assets at fair value 

Balance, beginning of year $— $— 

Employer’s contributions 379 288 

Benefits paid       (379)                          (288) 

Balance, end of year $— $— 

(iii)  Defined  benefit  obligations 

Balance, beginning of year $(17,307) $(14,219) 

Current service cost (399) (293) 

Interest costs on defined benefit obligations (658) (669) 

Benefits paid 379 288 

Actuarial gain (loss) 566 (2,414) 

Balance, end of year $(17,419) $(17,307) 
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
for the year ended March 31, 2016 (all amounts in $ thousands) 

10. Post-retirement benefits (continued) 

b) Other post-retirement benefits (continued) 

(iv)  Components of defined benefit costs 

Current service cost $399  $293 

Finance cost  658  669 

Defined benefit costs recognized in the statement of operations 1,057  962 

Remeasurements and other items 

• actuarial (gain) loss (566)  2,414 

Defined benefit costs recognized in the statement of changes in net assets (566)  2,414 

Defined benefit costs $491  $3,376 

2016 2015 

 (v) Actuarial assumptions 
The significant actuarial assumptions used in measuring the defined benefit obligations and the 

defined benefit costs for the years then ended are as follows: 

2016 2015 

Defined  benefit  
obligations  

Defined  benefit  
costs  

Defined  benefit  
obligations  

Defined  benefit 
costs 

Discount rate 4.00%  3.80%  3.80%  5.00% 
Initial health care trend rate 5.89%  5.96%  5.96% 6.13% 
Ultimate health care trend rate  4.50%  4.50%  4.50%  4.50% 
Year that the health care trend rate reaches  

the ultimate rate  2028  2028  2028  2028 

c) Financial  risks 
The primary long-term risk of the post-retirement benefits plans to CPA Canada is that the plan assets 

and future operational cash flows of CPA Canada will be insufficient to satisfy the plan liabilities. 

A summary of the funded status of the plans is as follows: 

2016 2015 

Funded plan:  

Plan assets at fair value $53,662 $56,832 

Defined benefit obligations (58,870)  (61,069) 

(5,208)  (4,237) 

Unfunded plans:  

 Defined benefit obligations – pension plan (8,472)  (8,771) 

– other post-retirement benefits (17,419)  (17,307) 

(25,891)  (26,078) 

Post-retirement benefits liability recognized in the statement of financial position $(31,099)  $(30,315) 

 

The liabilities of the plans expose CPA Canada to various forms of risk, including liquidity risk and the 

risk associated with changes in actuarial assumptions, primarily interest rate risk with reference to the 

discount rate used to measure the defined benefit obligations of the plans. 
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
for the year ended March 31, 2016 (all amounts in $ thousands) 

10. Post-retirement benefits (continued) 

c) Financial risks (continued) 

The assets of the plan expose CPA Canada to various forms of risk, including credit, liquidity and 

market risk which is comprised of interest rate, currency and other price risk. The assets of the plan  

comprise investments in index pooled funds with an asset mix of 40% (+/-3%) fixed income investments  

and 60% (+/-3%) equities, and are rebalanced on a quarterly basis. 

CPA Canada mitigates the risks relating to the plan assets in the same manner as its financial instruments. 

In addition, there is a natural offset in relation to the interest rate risk on the liability of its funded plan arising 

from its investments in index pooled funds whose values are also affected by changes in interest rates. 

11.  Commitments 

a) Premises  leases 
CPA Canada has entered into lease agreements for its office premises. The agreements require 

CPA Canada to pay a proportionate share of property taxes and operating expenses. 

The future annual lease payments for the office premises, including an estimate of the proportionate 

share of property taxes and operating expenses, are as follows: 

2017 $3,618 

2018 3,230 

2019 3,190 

2020 3,335 

2021 3,343 

Subsequent years 21,876 

$38,592 

b) Deferred lease incentives 

2016 2015 

Tenant  
inducements  

Reduced 
rent  benefits  Total  

Tenant 
inducements  

Reduced  
rent  benefits  Total  

Balance, beginning of year  $499  $138  $637  $645 $182  $827 

Additions during the year 1,638  — 1,638  — — — 

Amortization  (207)  (44)  (251)  (146)  (44)  (190) 

Balance, end of year  $1,930  $94  $2,024  $499  $138  $637 

Pursuant to lease amending agreements for its Toronto office premises entered into during fiscal 2015, 

the term of the lease was extended to August 31, 2027. CPA Canada received tenant inducements of $448 

in fiscal 2016. A further amount of $1,190 has been recognized as an amount receivable and as deferred 

lease incentives as monies were expended towards eligible leasehold improvements in fiscal 2016, that upon 

70 CPA Canada Financial Statements 2015-2016 



 

  

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

      

 

  

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
for the year ended March 31, 2016 (all amounts in $ thousands) 

11. Commitments (continued) 

b) Deferred lease incentives (continued) 

commencement of the amended lease effective September 1, 2017, will trigger the payment of leasehold 

inducements to CPA Canada in the same amount. CPA Canada is also entitled to the receipt of additional 

tenant inducements in the amount of $667 should further eligible leasehold improvements be incurred in 

fiscal 2017. 

12. Investment income 

2016 2015  

Interest from cash $51 $165 

Interest from short-term investments 28 35 

Interest from guaranteed investment certificates 352 116 

Interest from fixed income investments 111 221 

Distributions from index pooled funds 1,980 1,976 

Realized gains on sale of investments 153 481 

Unrealized (depreciation) appreciation in fair value of index pooled funds (2,516) 2,051 

$159 $5,045 
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Governance of CPA Canada

The CPA Canada Board of Directors conducted five regular and 

four special meetings in 2015-2016, as well as two strategy  

sessions. Key business included the appointment of Joy Thomas as 

president and CEO to succeed Kevin Dancey, and the admission  

of CPA Alberta, CPA British Columbia, and CPA Manitoba as  

Organization Members. 

The board receives regular reports from its four standing committees 

(Audit, Nominating and Governance, Human Resources and 

Compensation, and Education and Qualifications Advisory). It also 

receives a report at each regular meeting from the Council of Chief 

Executives (CCE). These CCE reports cover the core elements of the 

profession that are managed jointly by the national and provincial 

accounting bodies: strategic planning, public trust and ethics,  

education and qualification, and brand and reputation management.

The board has been at its maximum size of 22 since December 2014.

Following the third CPA Canada annual general meeting in  

September 2015, Bob Strachan, FCPA, FCMA, completed his term  

as chair; Alain Côté, FCPA, FCA, became the new chair; and  

Terry LeBlanc, FCPA, FCGA, became vice-chair. The latter was  

succeeded in his role as director by Meryle Corbett, FCPA, FCMA.
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CPA Canada Board of Directors 2015-2016

CHAIR

Alain Côté  
FCPA, FCA
Partner, Deloitte LLP,  
Montréal, Québec

VICE-CHAIR

Terry LeBlanc 
FCPA, FCGA
Retired, Former Regional Director, 
Canada Revenue Agency,  
Moncton, New Brunswick

DIRECTORS

LP, 

Barbara Carle-Thiesson  
FCPA, FCA 
Partner and Business Advisor, 
MNP LLP, 
Nanaimo, British Columbia

Meryle Corbett 
FCPA, FCMA
CFO, KF Aerospace,  
Kelowna, British Columbia

Manon Durivage 
FCPA, FCA
Partner, BDO Canada L
Montréal, Québec

Gregory Gallant
FCPA, FCA
Partner, Grant Thornton LLP, 
Toronto, Ontario 

N. Thomas Conyers  
FCPA, FCA
Retired, Former Partner,  
PricewaterhouseCoopers,  
Bermuda

Jacques Côté 
FCPA, FCMA
Special Advisor,  
Canadian Space Agency,  
Montréal, Québec 

Catherine Emrick
FCPA, FCGA
Senior Associate, Tides Canada,  
Calgary, Alberta

Leo Gallant
FCPA, FCA
Professor of Accounting,  
St. Francis Xavier University,  
Antigonish, Nova Scotia 

Bob Strachan FCPA, FCMA, Retired, Former Manager, Accounting Services, Capital Regional District, Victoria served as chair from 
September 2014 to September 2015. 
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DIRECTORS

ment,

,  

 

Colleen Gibb
FCPA, FCA
President, Gibb Widdis  
Professional Corporation, 
Ancaster, Ontario 

Michael E. Lem 
FCPA, FCMA 
Vice-President, Investment Advisor & 
Financial Planner, BMO Nesbitt Burns, 
Markham, Ontario 

Blake Mercer 
FCPA, FCGA
Partner, Mercer & Mercer, 
Milton, Ontario 

Dorothy Rice
FCPA, FCMA
Managing Director Electoral Finance,  
Elections Nova Scotia,  
Halifax, Nova Scotia

Michel Théroux 
FCPA, FCA
Retired, Former President,  
Jas. A. Ogilvy Inc., 
Montréal, Québec

Marcel Vienneau 
CEO, Mobi724 Global Solutions Inc.,  
Montréal, Québec  
(Public Representative)

Marilyn Kuntz 
FCPA, FCA 
Retired, Former Partner 
BDO Canada LLP, 
Calgary, Alberta

Jonathan Levin 
Partner, Fasken Martineau,  
Toronto, Ontario  
(Public Representative) 

John Nagy 
FCPA, FCGA
Partner, Reid Hurst Nagy Inc.,
Richmond, British Columbia

Stephan Robitaille
FCPA, FCGA 
Manager, Client Develop
Desjardins 
Montréal, Québec 

Douglas J. Tkach 
FCPA, FCA 
Senior Vice-President and  
Chief Internal Auditor,  
The Great-West Life Assurance Company
Winnipeg, Manitoba

Rod Wiley
FCPA, FCMA 
Associate, Praxis Consulting, 
Regina, Saskatchewan
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Senior Management of CPA Canada 
As of March 31, 2016 

Stephen Anisman  CPA, CMA  
Vice-President, Finance and Chief Financial Officer 

Tashia Batstone,  MBA, FCPA, FCA 
Vice-President, Education Services 

Gordon Beal, CPA, CA, M.ED. 
Vice-President, Research, Guidance and Support 

Nicholas Cheung,  CPA, CA, CIPP/C 
Vice-President, Member Services 

Kevin Dancey,  FCPA, FCA  
President and CEO 

Gale Evans,  CPA, CMA, C.DIR. 
Vice-President, Administration 

Nancy Foran,  FCPA, FCMA, C.DIR 
Vice-President, International — The Americas 

Stephenie Fox,  CPA, CA 
Vice-President, Standards 

Lyle Handfield, FCPA, FCGA 
Vice-President, International — Asia 

Gabe Hayos,  FCPA, FCA 
Vice-President, Taxation 

Joy Thomas,  MBA, FCPA, FCMA, C.DIR. 
Executive Vice-President* 

Heather Whyte, MBA, APR 
Vice-President, Strategic Communications,  

Branding and Public Affairs 

Cairine Wilson,  MBA, CAE 
Vice-President, Corporate Citizenship 

Michele Wood-Tweel,  FCPA, FCA 
Vice-President, Regulatory Affairs 

* The CPA Canada Board of Directors approved the appointment of Joy Thomas, FCPA, FCMA,  
as president and CEO, effective April 1, 2016. 
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